Chief Editor :

prof. Ing. Dr. Róbert ŠTEFKO, Ph.D.

Faculty of Management

University of Presov in Presov, Slovakia

Editorial Board:

doc. PhDr. Miroslav FRANKOVSKÝ, CSc.

Faculty of Management

University of Presov in Presov, Slovakia

doc. Ing. Peter ADAMIŠIN, PhD.

Faculty of Management

University of Presov in Presov, Slovakia

prof. H. c. prof. Ing. Ondrej HRONEC, DrSc.

Faculty of Management

University of Presov in Presov, Slovakia

prof. Ing. Jiří KERN, CSc.

Faculty of Management

University of Presov in Presov, Slovakia

prof. Pantelis KYRMIZOGLOU

Alexander Technological Institution

Of Thessaloniki, Greece

prof. dr. hab. Maria NOWICKA-SKOWRON

The Faculty of Management

Czestochowa University of Technology, Poland

prof. Dr. hab. Inž. Sebastian KOT

The Faculty of Management

Czestochowa University of Technology, Poland

prof. dr. hab. Inž. Janusz K. GRABARA

The Faculty of Management

Czestochowa University of Technology, Poland

Asst. Prof. Dr. Muniarajan RAMAKRISHNAN,

PGDGC., PGDHRM (Human Resoures)., Ph.D.

(Germany)., MBPsS (U.K.)., CPsychol (U.K.).,

CSci (U.K.)., AFBPsS (U.K.)

Department of Psychology, Istanbul Kemerburgaz

University, Turkey

prof. Dr. Lothar BILDAT

EBC Hochschule: Campus Hamburg

prof. Dr. Martin UŽÍK

Berlin School of Economics and Law

prof. Lasse BERNTZEN

University College of South – East Norway

Asst. Prof. Oksana KIFORENKO, PhD.

Faculty of Management

National University of Horticulture

Executive Editor:

Ing. Ľudovít NASTIŠIN, PhD.

Faculty of Management

University of Presov in Presov, Slovakia

Editorial Office:

Journal of Management and Business: Research and Practice Časopis pre manažment a podnikanie: Výskum a prax

Faculty of Management

University of Presov in Presov

Konstantinova 16, 080 01 Presov

Tel.: +421 51 4880 510

e-mail: ludovit.nastisin@unipo.sk



Journal of Management and Business:

Research and Practice

Časopis pre manažment a podnikanie: Výskum a prax

University of Presov in Presov Faculty of Management 2/2019 VOLUME 11

Journal of Management and Business: Research and Practice

Časopis pre manažment a podnikanie: Výskum a prax

Scientific Journal of the Faculty of Management of University of Presov in Presov Published twice a year. Registration number 2858/09

Content Focus: Management, Marketing, Segments and Applications of Management, Trade Entrepreneurship, Corporate Economics, Econometrics, Regional Development, Social Aspects of Current Management and Marketing

Language: English

Frequency: Semiannual

Publisher:University of Presov in Presov, 17. novembra 15, 080 01 PresovIČO 17 070 775

Date of issue: November 2019

Print: DMC, s.r.o., Nové Zámky Printing: 50 copies

ISSN 1338-0494

©University of Presov in Presov

CONTENTS

Dana KISEĽÁKOVÁ, Elena ŠIRÁ, Beáta ŠOFRANKOVÁ
THE EASE OF DOING BUSINESS INDEX
IN SELECTED COUNTRIES
Marek TEPLÝ
ROBOTIC PROCESS AUTOMATION AS A DISRUPTOR
TO THE OFFSHORING MARKET15
Jaroslava HEČKOVÁ, Miroslav FRANKOVSKÝ, Lucia ZBIHLEJOVÁ, Zuzana BIRKNEROVÁ,
Alexandra CHAPČÁKOVÁ
INTERCONNECTIONS BETWEEN THE PRE-MERGER-AND-ACQUISITION
PROCESS FACTORS PERCEPTION AND THE CROSS-BORDER MERGER
AND ACQUISITION MOTIVATION ATTRIBUTES ASSESSMENT
Sylvia JENČOVÁ, Petra VAŠANIČOVÁ
PROFITABILITY OF THE SLOVAK SPA INDUSTRY
Jaroslava HEČKOVÁ, Alexandra CHAPČÁKOVÁ, Stela MARKOVÁ
ANALYSIS OF THE COMPETITIVENESS OF THE SERVICE SECTOR
IMPACTING CROSS-BORDER MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
IN THE COUNTRIES OF THE EUROPEAN AREA
Anna ANTONYOVÁ
WHY TOURISM: ANALYSIS THE TRAVELING WITH PURPOSE
IN THE EUROPEAN CONTEXT
Eva LITAVCOVÁ, Petra VAŠANIČOVÁ
ANALYTICAL VIEW ON BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT ATTRIBUTE IN CONTEXT
OF TRAVEL AND TOURISM COMPETITIVENESS INDEX
Jarmila HORVÁTHOVÁ, Martina MOKRIŠOVÁ
CONSTRUCTION OF LOGIT MODEL APPLYING SELECTED FINANCIAL INDICATORS

OBSAH

Dana KISEĽÁKOVÁ, Elena ŠIRÁ, Beáta ŠOFRANKOVÁ
DOING BUSINESS INDEX VO VYBRANÝCH KRAJINÁCH8
Marek TEPLÝ
AKO MÔŽE ROBOTIZÁCIA ZAUTOMATIZOVANÝCH PROCESOV
NARUŠIŤ OFFSHORE MARKET15
Jaroslava HEČKOVÁ, Miroslav FRANKOVSKÝ, Lucia ZBIHLEJOVÁ, Zuzana BIRKNEROVÁ,
Alexandra CHAPCAKUVA
A DOSÚDENÍM MOTIVAČNÝCH A TRIDÚTOV CEZID ANIČNÝCH EÚZÚ
A FOSODENIM MOTIVACUTEITATRIBOTOV CEZITRANICUTEITFOZII A AKVIZÍCIÍ
Sylvia JENČOVÁ, Petra VAŠANIČOVÁ
ZISKOVOSŤ SLOVENSKÉHO KÚPEĽNÍCTVA
Jaroslava HEČKOVÁ, Alexandra CHAPČÁKOVÁ, Stela MARKOVÁ
ANALÝZA KONKURENCIESCHOPNOSTI SEKTORA SLUŽIEB VPLÝVAJÚCEJ
NA CEZHRANIČNÉ FÚZIE A AKVIZÍCIE V KRAJINÁCHEURÓPSKEHO PRIESTORU
Anna ANTONYOVÁ
PREČO TURIZMUS: ANALÝZA CESTOVANIA S ÚČELOM V EURÓPSKOM KONTEXTE42
Eva LITAVCOVÁ, Petra VAŠANIČOVÁ
ANALYTICKÝ POHĽAD NA ATRIBÚT PODNIKATEĽSKÉHO PROSTREDIA
V KONTEXTE INDEXU KONKURENCIESCHOPNOSTI CESTOVNÉHO RUCHU47
Jarmila HORVÁTHOVÁ, Martina MOKRIŠOVÁ
KONŠTRUKCIA MODELU LOGIT UPLATŇOVANÝCH
VYBRANÝCH FINANČNÝCH UKAZOVATEĽOV56

THE EASE OF DOING BUSINESS INDEX IN SELECTED COUNTRIES

DOING BUSINESS INDEX VO VYBRANÝCH KRAJINÁCH

Abstract: The aim of the article is to analyse the competitiveness of the V4 countries. Competitiveness of the country is very important factor, because this factor enable country to be the leader in the world market. To obtain the high competitiveness level, the country might have attractive business environment. Because good business environment of the country, predict the country to be interesting for investors and those help the country to grow. To measure the quality of the business environment, we used the Ease of doing business. This index is published by World Bank every year. We analysed the performance of V4 countries in the Ease of Doing Business Index for 10 years. According to their performance, we identified the strong and weak features in business environment in V4 countries.

Key words: Competitiveness of the Country, Doing Business Index, V4.

JEL Classification: O40

Introduction

Competitiveness is an important indicator for the countries. We can say, that the competitiveness is the ability of a country to facilitate an environment in which enterprises can generate sustainable value. Because of its relative value, the competitiveness must be constantly compared with other economies and regions (Margan 2012) Countries can create competitive advantages by improving their position through taxation (Válek and Kušnírová 2018), innovative and inventive potential. These are dynamic competitive advantages based on human capital, an educated workforce and a high level of active scientific research potential (Kollár 2013). Very important conclusions can be found in the study Mura et al (2017), where correlations between the economic freedom and economic growth were analysed.

A fundamental premise of Doing Business is that economic activity requires good rules – rules that establish and clarify property rights and reduce the cost of resolving disputes, rules that increase the predictability of economic interactions and provide contractual partners with certainty and protection against abuse. The objective is regulations designed to be efficient, accessible to all and simple in their implementation. (Corcoran and Gillanders 2015) The ease of doing business index measures the quality of the business environment and the impact of national government policymaking on the cost of doing business throughout the lifecycle of small- and medium-sized firms. (Kozovska 2014)

The first ease of doing business index was published by the World Bank in 2003. Five topics are taken into account in the early age of index Today, eleven topics are created the Ease of doing business index. The index averages the country's percentile rankings on each of the eleven topics, using an equal weighting scheme for each topic. (Kozovska 2014)



Figure 1 Topics and economies covered by Doing Business report

Source: Annual report of DB 2019

To provide different perspectives on the data, Doing Business presents data both for individual indicators and for two aggregate measures: the ease of doing business score and the ease of doing business ranking. The ease of doing business score aids in assessing the absolute level of regulatory performance and how it improves over time. (Corcoran and Gillanders 2015) The best regulatory performance is set at the highest possible value for indicators calculated as scores, such as the strength of legal rights index or the quality of land administration index. (Annual report DB 2019)

In Figure 1, we can see eleven indicators, which established the Ease of doing business index since 2011. Procedures, time, costs and minimum capital to start a company are a part of first indicator - "Starting a business". Other indicators are dedicated to construction permits, getting electricity, getting credit, registering property, protected minority investors, trading across borders and resolving insolvency. Payment, time and total tax are a part of next indicator - "Paying taxes". "Enforcing contract" contain time, cost and efforts to resolve commercial dispute. And the last indicator - "Labour market regulation" was created by flexibility in employment regulation and job quality.

Figure 2 What is measured in Doing Business?

Indicator set	What is measured
Starting a business	Procedures, time, cost and paid-in minimum capital to start a limited liability company for men and women
Dealing with construction permits	Procedures, time and cost to complete all formalities to build a warehouse and the quality control and safety mechanisms in the construction permitting system
Getting electricity	Procedures, time and cost to get connected to the electrical grid, the reliability of the electricity supply and the transparency of tariffs
Registering property	Procedures, time and cost to transfer a property and the quality of the land administration system for men and women
Getting credit	Movable collateral laws and credit information systems
Protecting minority investors	Minority shareholders' rights in related-party transactions and in corporate governance
Paying taxes	Payments, time and total tax and contribution rate for a firm to comply with all tax regulations as well as postfiling processes
Trading across borders	Time and cost to export the product of comparative advantable and import auto parts
Enforcing contracts	Time and cost to resolve a commercial dispute and the quality of judicial processes for men and women
Resolving insolvency	Time, cost, outcome and recovery rate for a commercial insolvency and the strength of the legal framework for insolvency
Labor market regulation	Flexibility in employment regulation and aspects of job quality

Source: Annual report of DB 2019

Material and Methods

The aim of the article is to analyse the entrepreneurship environment in selected countries. The business environment will be evaluate by the performance in Ease of Doing Business Index. The main goal is to choose, which country is the best for entrepreneurship. For analyses, we have chosen V4 countries. They are: the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and the Slovak Republic. These countries were chosen for their similar historical, economical and business environment.

We have chosen the Ease of doing business index for evaluation the competitiveness of the countries. We have chosen this index, because the Ease of doing business index measures the quality of the business environment. And good business environment is the first step for good economical environment of the country.

The analysed period was set to 10 years. According to Doing Business Report, we have analysed the annual reports Doing Business 2010 - 2019.

Firstly, we have focused on overall performance of the countries. Next, we have analysed the score gained in the mention index. The achieved score was in the range 0-100 points, where 100 points is the best. For better results, we have finally analysed the data and made an output in programme STATISTICA 12.

Discussion

The Ease of doing business index was formed for the years. Firstly, there were analysed only 5 indicators by the World Bank. Next year they have added one indicator. In the year 2006 there were analysed 10 indicators. From the year 2011, almost 11 indicators have been evaluated to create the whole Ease of doing business index (DBI). We can see the development of number of indicators in Graph 1.

Almost, the number of analysed countries were different by the years. In the year 2004, the 133 countries have been analysed. In the last year 2019, almost 190 countries were analysed by the World Bank. The World bank evaluate through this index countries from all the world, not only the European countries.



Graph 1 Development of score in V4 countries in Ease of Doing Business Index

In the V4 countries we can see an increase in scores over the 10-year period, from Graph 1. The sharpest increase was seen in Poland. The score grew from the original 62.82 points to 76.95 points in the last published DBI. Another country with the most significant growth, was the Czech Republic. In cases of Slovakia and Hungary, the increase in score were recorded, but it was more moderate. Thus, we can say, that the business environment improves in the analysed countries from year to year and creates a pleasant environment for running business in the countries.

The biggest move in the score was in Poland. From the lowest score in 2010, this country reached the highest score in 2019 among the V4 countries. This fact can also be seen on the boxplot graph of Poland. The modest change of score were seen in the case of Hungary and Slovakia. The size of both boxplot charts was similar. In the case of Slovakia, the obtained score was significantly higher than in Hungary.

As we can see from the Figure 1 and Graph 2, the biggest positive correlation among V4 countries are between the Czech Republic and Poland. In this case, the Pearson's r was 0.971042 at the significant level $\pounds=0.05$.

Figure 1 Correlation between V4 countries

Proměnná	Czech Republic	Hungary	Poland	Slovak Republic
Czech Republic	1,000000	0,909062	0,971042	0,932642
Hungary	0,909062	1,000000	0,876720	0,965016
Poland	0,971042	0,876720	1,000000	0,926414
Slovak Republic	0,932642	0,965016	0,926414	1,000000
C				

Source: own processing

Source: own processing

Graph 2 Correlation between Czech Republic and Poland



Source: own processing

The performance of DBI 2019 in V4 countries

When we have analysed the DBI 2019 through their subindexes, we can identify the strengths and weaknesses of the analysed country. In case of the **Czech Republic**, the strongest indicators were "Trading across border" and "Getting electricity". In these indicators were obtained score more than 95 points. The weakest indicators were "Dealing with construction permits" and "Enforcing contracts". But in both mentioned cases, there were still obtained favourable score more than 50 points. The country was overall ranked at 35th place in DBI 2019.

The strongest indicators in **Hungary** was "Trading across border". On the other hand, the weakest indicator was "Protecting minority investors" with the score of 50 points. The country was overall ranked at 53rd place in DBI 2019 from 190 countries. In the last year, there were a reform in taxes. Hungary made paying taxes less costly by decreasing the social tax rate paid by the employer and by reducing the corporate income tax rate to a flat rate.

In case of **Poland** as the best country form V4 group for doing business, the strongest indicator was "Trading across border". The lowest score was in indicator named "Protecting minority investors", the obtained value in this weakest indicator was over 60 points. Poland's overall position was 33rd place. In the last year, there were a reform in enforcing contracts. Poland made enforcing contracts easier by introducing an automated system to assign cases to judges randomly. But in the other area, in paying taxes, the situation had worsen. Poland made paying taxes more complicated by requiring the monthly reporting of value added tax returns, extending the list of goods and services subject to a reverse charge mechanism and introducing new reporting obligations for SAF-T files.

In case of the **Slovak Republic**, the strongest indicators were "Trading across border" and "Registering property". This strengths are stabile strength of the Slovak Republic for a years and are mentioned by Xhala and Nemec (2016), too. In these indicators were obtained score more than 90 points. The lowest score was in indicator named "Protecting minority investors" with the score over 53 points. Overall position of the country was 42nd place. In the last year, there were a reform in area of enforcing contracts, too. The Slovak Republic made enforcing contracts easier by implementing electronic service of process.

Conclusion

The business environment in the country is a key factor, that enable the country to be competitive. Across the Ease of doing business index, we can compare the business environment through the countries.

The strongest indicator in DBI 2019 was "Trading across border" in case of all V4 countries. The weakest indicator was "Protecting minority investors" in Hungary, Poland and in the Slovak Republic. Only the Czech Republic has the biggest problems in another indicators. All V4 countries obtained the increasing score through 10 years period. The business environment of all V4 countries was similar with the rank of DBI 2019 from 33rd to 53rd place. But only one country can became a leader of the group.

According to performance of DBI, we can set, which country from V4 group has the most suitable business environment. From the made analyses, Poland has the most attractive business environment from V4. Their score of DBI was the highest for the years.

Súhrn

Cieľom príspevku je porovnať konkurencieschopnosť krajín V4Konkurencieschopnosť krajiny môže byť skúmaná z rôznych uhlov pohľadov a prístupov, pretože je jedným z. kľúčových faktorov úspechu krajiny. K dosiahnutiu želanej úrovne konkurenčnosti výrazne prispieva atraktívne podnikateľské prostredie. Pretože len to dokáže predurčiť krajinu k úspechu, z zvýšenému záujmu investorov, čo v konečnom dôsledku napomáha krajine rásť a zveľaďovať sa. . Na meranie kvality podnikateľského prostredia sme použili Ease of doing business index. Tento index je každoročne publikovaný Svetovou bankou. V príspevku sme skúmali vývoj tohto indexu v krajinách V4 počas 10 rokov. Vzhľadom na zmeny vo vývoji jednotlivých krajín sme mohli identifikovať silné a slabé stránky pre každú zo skúmaných krajín.

Kľúčové slová: konkurencieschopnosť krajiny, Doing Business index, V4.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Slovak Research and Development Agency under the contract No. APVV-15-0322.

Bibliography

- Annual Report Doing Business 2019. International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 16th edition. [ONLINE] Available at: http://www.doingbusiness.org/en/reports/globalreports/doing-business-2019 [accessed: 2018-11-10]
- [2] Corcoran, A., & Gillanders, R. (2015). Foreign direct investment and the ease of doing business. *Review of World Economics*, 151(1), 103-126.
- [3] Kollár, V. (2013). Manažment kvality (Quality management). Bratislava: IAM press. ISBN 978-80-89600-11-3
- [4] Kozovska, K. (2014). Ease of Doing Business Index. Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research, 1753-1754.
- [5] Margan, F. (2012) Competitiveness in the EU on the Context of the Globalised Economy. In Proceedings of the *1st International Conference on European Integration* 2012. Ostrava: VSB-TU Ostrava, pp. 188-198.
- [6] Mura, L., Danova, M., Vavrek, R., & Dubravska, M. (2017). Economic freedom-classification of its level and impact on the economic security. *AD ALTA-journal of interdisciplinary research*, 7(2), pp. 154-157.

- [7] Válek, J., & Kušnírova, J. (2018). Environmental tax regulation in selected sectors of European countries. In: Proceedings from the international scientific conference - *Management 2018: Management and the world in motion, challenges, opportunities and threats*, Prešov: Bookman, pp. 868-874
- [8] Xhala, N. C., Nemec, J. (2016). The quality of public institutions as the key factor in the successful realization of PPPs. *Acta Aerarii Publici* 13(2), pp. 95-108.

Address:

doc. Ing. Dana Kisel'áková, PhD., Department of Finance, Faculty of Management, University of Prešov in Prešov, Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov, e-mail: dana.kiselakova@unipo.sk

Ing. Elena Širá, PhD., Department of Economy Sciences and Economics, Faculty of Management, University of Prešov, Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov, email: <u>elena.sira@unipo.sk</u>

Ing. Beáta Šofranková, PhD., Department of Finance, Faculty of Management, University of Prešov in Prešov, Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov, e-mail: beata.sofrankova@unipo.sk

Marek TEPLÝ

ROBOTIC PROCESS AUTOMATION AS A DISRUPTOR TO THE OFFSHORING MARKET

AKO MÔŽE ROBOTIZÁCIA ZAUTOMATIZOVANÝCH PROCESOV NARUŠIŤ OFFSHORE MARKET

Abstract: This article discusses Robotic Process Automation (RPA) and evaluates its ability to disrupt the offshoring market. It examines the benefits of both RPA and offshoring and argues that highlighted advantages of RPA outweigh those of offshoring strategies. Hence the author suggests that RPA could be a key disruptor of the offshoring market. The evidence highlights both financial and non-financial benefits that an organisation could achieve by deploying RPA, which would also include control over the automated processes. The article assumes that taking a path towards RPA could also change economies in developing countries and their approach to the global economy market. However, the paper doesn't focus on the impact on the developing countries nor the adoption rate of RPA. These factors could be part of additional research in the future.

Keywords: Market, Offshoring, Process, Organisation, Relocation,

Kl'účové slová: Market, Offshoring, Proces, Organizácia, Premiestnenie

JEL: F 16, F 18, F 43, F 63, L 1, L 14.

Introduction

With approaching industry 4.0, the progress in technology opens doors to alternative advances that promise extensive improvements in operations' effectiveness and efficiencies. Concepts such as Machine Learning and Artificial Intelligence have become pivotal elements of organisations' strategy aiming to achieve a competitive advantage across industries. Due to rapid changes in the market that also includes human factors integrations, the author discusses the impact of such innovation on traditional strategic management. The article introduces the concept of Robotic Process Automation and its influence on Offshoring approaches. The paper is dedicated to broader readers and does not necessarily target IT specialists.

Taking full advantage of globalisation and other economic opportunities resulted in a steep elevation in applying offshoring strategies. The value of exporting goods and service in 2017 was estimated to be USD 24,7 trillion worldwide from which export of services held approximately 24% as organisations have developed a healthy appetite to seek cost advantage in low-income countries (Our World in Data, 2019). The increasing number also corresponds with rapid growth in exporting products and services between 1960 and 2017 (Figure 1). Offshoring has also been encouraged by developing countries through tax benefits and additional concessions so they could secure foreign investments (Berry, 2005). Hence, low wage countries such as China, India and have become hubs for relocated business operations. This trend, however, might change in the future due to a new emerging market that has the ability to replace some repetitive human tasks through robotic software for a fraction of the offshoring cost.





Source: Our World in Data, 2019. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/trade-and-globalisation#whatdo-countries-trade. [Accessed 07 September 2019].

Offshoring strategy and the offshoring market

The offshoring strategy has been widely practised since 1960, mostly with the critical objectives to reduce cost by relocating standardised work to low wage countries (Mykhaylenko, 2015). Although the literature suggests that offshoring benefits shall reach far beyond the cost reduction (Bonasia, 2005 & Ebrahimi, 2009), the profit margin is still very often the key decision factor. The emphasis on cutting expenses is also apparent from the number of researches that elaborate on offshoring with reference to a transactional theory. Understandably, ignoring the fact that the business has the ability to increase shareholders' value, would, in reality, be in conflict with the established organisational mission and the triple bottom line (Moran, 2011).

From the modern perspective, the offshoring market has rapidly evolved in the past sixty years, mostly due to globalisation and technology. Those two factors have drastically shaped the market by accelerating its growth at the beginning of its life cycle, as well as causing its disruption in later stages. In the first instance, technology and globalisation have triggered exponential growth as their progress has dramatically reduced prices within the Information and Communication industry. For instance, "the cost of transferring a trillion bits of data plummet from \$150,000 in 1970 to 12 cents by 1999" (Khan & Bashar 2016). Similarly, the cost of an international phone call fell from \$300 per minute from New York to London to a few cents (Khan & Bashar, 2016) (Figure 2). From the operational perspective, the progress in technology has enhanced offshoring growth through digitalisation. This enabled separating processes and relocating those functions that had to be performed internally in the past due to security or quality assurance (Palugod, 2011).

Figure 2: Transport and communication costs between 1930 and 2005



Source: Our World in Data, 2019. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/trade-and-globalisation#whatdo-countries-trade. [Accessed 07 September 2019].

In the second instance, technology and globalisation have dramatically increased turbulence and complexity of the external environment (Emery & Trist, 1965). This, in turn, has increased risks in applying the offshoring strategies and unpredictability of the outcome. For instance, such a risk could represent a hidden cost of setting up relocated business functions and increasing wages of labour in developing countries and regulations imposed by governments.

Technology not only has affected individual stages of the offshoring market life cycle but also determined new trends and related skills required for performing those relocated business functions. This, in turn, has triggered progress in the adaptation of technical capabilities in low wage countries in order to secure contracts from overseas. For instance, banks, financial institutions and insurances' back offices hold between 40 and 45 per cent of the relocated services with a strong focus on IT processes (Palugod, 2011).

The mutual benefits for both exporting and importing business could be evident from the increasing number of exported services per year and the rising volumes of economies of developing countries. For instance, Telstra, the Australian telecommunication provider, halved its IT \$AUD 1,5 billion costs mainly by relocating 800 skilled jobs to India in 2003 (Grant, 2005). On the other side, the import of those services has become a vital source of income. China's enormous growth of GDP with \$USD 48 billion in 1962 compared to \$USD 14000 billion in 2018 (China GDP, 2019) could provide strong evidence of benefits arising from foreign investments.

Furthermore, offshoring opens the door to developing countries to innovate and improve their wellbeing. Hansen et al. (2008) argued that offshoring is a crucial element for the integration of developing countries in the global economy. With the pouring of foreign investments, developing countries have adopted the latest technology as well as the required skills to compete at a global level.

Some of the suppliers providing supporting services to multinationals have evolved in world-class businesses (Hansen et al., 2008). Their ability to challenge mature and developed organisations is evident through their high-quality outputs with low prices. Christensen (2007) described this behaviour as a disruptive strategy where cheaper products target the underserved market.

The benefits arising from offshoring strategies have reached far beyond financial initiatives and utilised the favourable market conditions that offered competitive prices for transport and communication. Those costs further accelerated globalisation process removed impediments for businesses to orchestrate their function of distance.

Disruption of the offshoring market and Robotic Process Automation

Although the literature indicates that the offshoring market will continue to grow, technology innovation suggests that deploying Robotic Process Automation (RPA) could seriously disrupt the offshoring market.

PR Newswire (Anonymous, 2017) stated that RPA market, based on the Global report would potentially worth \$2.647 million by 2022 with a compounded annual growth rate (CAGR) of 30,14% between 2017 and 2022. It is assumed that most of the market is to be held by banking, financial and insurances services (Anonymous, 2017). This could raise the question of why the RPA market could disrupt the offshoring market?

RPA is a software that incorporates Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Machine Learning (ML) in order to automate standardised work. This makes RPA capable of handling high volume tasks without an error for a fraction of offshoring price (Anonymous, 2017). The RPA is a software that mimics workers using, for instance, ERP or productivity tools. "An RPA robot is integrated across IT systems via front-end, as opposed to traditional software, which communicates with other IT systems via back-end. In practice, this means that the software robot uses IT systems exactly the same way a human would, repeating precise, rule-based steps, and reacting to the events on a computer screen, instead of communicating with system's Application Programming Interface (API)" (Asatiani&Penttinen, p 68, 2016). Combining the RPA with other tools such as Optical Character Recognition (OCR), Natural Language Processing (NLP), Machine Learning (ML) further increases the scope of tasks that could be performed by software robots.

When organisations plan what type of process is to be offshored, the dialogue is very often shaped around the cost advantage and the impact on quality and control, if operations will be handed over to a developing country. However, Robotic Process Automation does not have to compromise between price and quality. Automated processes are not affected by seasonal peaks, unlike offshoring, where the additional work has to be resourced and paid for. The advantages of the RPA compared to the offshoring strategies are substantial. According to Peter Ilgo (Illgo, 2019), the Managing Director of Automation CoE, deploying RPA reduces the labour cost by 40 to 80 per cent while providing other benefits such as:

- Accuracy the robots do not commit errors
- Scalability almost-fixed costs regardless of the volumes
- Compliance the robots execute the process precisely as designed
- Topline improvement robots provide time for people to focus on customer
- Customer satisfaction faster and accurate service
- Employee satisfaction the robots perform repetitive non-attractive tasks.

Moreover, RPA is not sensitive to dramatic changes in the external environment. For instance, the recent interventions by the US government in trading by imposing tariffs on Chinese products and services drastically increasing its costs. This not only resulted in multinationals' losses and relocating businesses elsewhere, but it has increased investment risks and speculations, which might affect the offshoring market in the long run. Another challenge for the relocated function is the increase in wages that drives the prices of products and services and slicing multinationals' profit. However, those challenges might indicate that the offshoring market will not be able to hold its position moving forward; however, there is no evidence sighted that the market would go through rapid changes.

Conclusion

The offshoring strategy has undoubtedly been benefitting both multinationals and developing countries for over five decades now. As a result, the world has witnessed the shift of a large portion of global manufacturing and some supporting process to developing countries which provided opportunities to breed new reliable organisation with the ability to compete in the global market.

However, there is evidence sighted that the offshoring market is being disrupted by new technologies; the statistical data does not provide enough evidence that would suggest a rapid decline in offshoring activities. It is expected that some of the multinationals business function will be re-shored back to the country of origin or that new opportunities will instead be utilising the benefits of RPA. The estimated market value and the time frame will also depend on the adoption rate, which could be skewed through acceleration caused by the technology progress, and therefore, this information should only be informative.

It is suggested that the study could progress with a research focus on the impact of RPA on the offshoring market and developing countries to discuss their options of how to secure investments and improve their wellbeing.

References

- [1] ANONYM, 2007, McKinsey Quarterly Publication. In: McKinsey Global Institute, Boston, MA.
- [2] ANONYM, 2017. At 30+% CAGR, Robotic Process Automation Market. In: PR Newswire, 07 March.
- [3] ANONYM, 2017. Deploying Robotic Process Automation in Contact Centers. In: PR Newswire, 27 September.
- [4] ANONYM, 2017. Robotic Process Automation Market. In: PR Newswire, 27 September.
- [5] ANONYM, 2019. International Trade Import content of Export OECD Data. [ONLINE] Available at: https:// data.oecd.org/trade/import-content-of-exports.htm#indicator-chart. [Accessed 01 September 2019].
- [6] ASATIANI, A. and PENTTINEN, E., 2016. Turning Robotic Process Automation into commercial success Case Opus Capita. In: Journal of Information Technology Teaching Cases, 6(2), p. 67-74.
- [7] BONASIA, J., 2005. Offshoring Decisions Extend Beyond Costs; How to Minimize Risk. Many U.S. tech firms opt for approach that uses both local, overseas help. In: Investor's Business Daily, Apr 08. ISSN 10612890.
- [8] CHRISTENSEN, C. M., 1997. The Innovator's dilemma: When new technologies cause great firms to fail. Boston, MA. In: Harvard Business School Press.
- [9] EBRAHIMI, A.G., 2009. Leadership and technology offshoring in India beyond cost reduction, Capella University.
- [10] EMERY, F.E. and TRIST E.L., 1965, The causal texture of organizational environment. In: Human Relations, Vol. 18, pp. 21-32.

- [11] GRANT, R., 2005. Offshoring jobs: US and Australian perspectives. Parliamentary Research Brief 12, Canberra, Government of Australia, retrieved September 4, 2007 from http://www.aph.gov.au/library/pubs/RB/200405/05rb 12.htm.
- [12] HANSEN, M.W., HENRIK SCHAUMBURG-MÜLLER and POTTENGER, E., 2008. Towards a developing country firm perspective on outsourcing. Strategic Outsourcing: An International Journal, 1(3), pp. 210-229.
- [13] HUZSHEREUTER, T., LEWIN, A.Y. and DRESEL, S., 2011. Governance modes for offshoring activities: a comparison of US and German firms ", International Business Review, Vol. 20 No. 3, pp. 291 - 313.
- [14] KHAN, H. and BASHAR, O.K.M.R., 2016. Does Globalization Create A 'Level Playing Field' Through Outsourcing and Brain Drain in The Global Economy? The Journal of Developing Areas, 50(6), pp. 191-207.
- [15] KUMAR, S., KWONG, A. and MISRA, C., 2009. Risk mitigation in offshoring of business operations: IMS. Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management, 20(4), pp. 442-459.
- [16] MORAN, S., 2011. People, planet, profits; Triple bottom line. National Post, Nov 14. ISSN 14868008.
- [17] MROCZEK, A., 2019. The Business Service Sector in India, Ireland and Poland. A Comparative Analysis. Comparative Economic Research, 22(2), pp. 159-172.
- [18] MYKHAYLENKO, A., MOTIKA, Ã., WAEHRENS, B.V. and SLEPNIOV, D., 2015. Accessing offshoring advantages: what and how to offshore. Strategic Outsourcing: International Journal, 8(2), pp. 262-283.
- [19] OVERBY, S., 2017. Robotic process automation makes nearshore outsourcing more attractive. *Cio.*
- [20] PALUGOD P. A., 2011, Global Trends in Offshoring. International Journal of Business and Social Science Vol. 2 No. 16; September 2011
- [21] RODGERS, P., KHAN, Z., TARBA, S., NURGABDESHOV, A., & AHAMMAD, M.F., 2017. Exploring the determinants of location choice decisions of offshored R&D projects. Journal of Business Research. 09 November.

Address:

Bc. Marek Teply, MBA LIGS University 836/810 Richard Street Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 Email: marek.teply@gmail.com

Jaroslava HEČKOVÁ, Miroslav FRANKOVSKÝ, Lucia ZBIHLEJOVÁ, Zuzana BIRKNEROVÁ, Alexandra CHAPČÁKOVÁ

Interconnections between the pre-merger-and-acquisition process factors perception and the cross-border merger and acquisition motivation attributes assessment

Súvislosti medzi vnímaním faktorov pred-fúzijno-akvizičného procesu a posúdením motivačných atribútov cezhraničných fúzií a akvizícií

Abstract: The main objective of the presented research is to find interconnections between the specified factors of perception of the pre-merger-and-acquisition process identified by the aDM&A methodology (ante-Determinants of Mergers and Acquisitions) and the perception of motivation attributes of crossborder merger and acquisition implementation by means of the mM&A methodology (Motivation Attributes of Cross-Border Mergers and Acquisitions). The analysis was carried out based on the data collected from 120 companies located in the European Economic Area. The context analysis was performed between four factors of the pre-merger-and-acquisition process perception (Synergy potential, Business environment, Investment benefit, and Financial management) and six motivational attributes (Growth acceleration, Synergistic attributes utilization, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, Cost saving, and Capacity expansion). The correlation analysis confirmed existence of several statistically significant correlations between the assessment of the premerger-and-acquisition factors and the assessment of the merger and acquisition motives. As for the limiting factors and the future research orientation in this field of knowledge, it is crucial to highlight the acceptance of a holistic approach in terms of a comprehensive, interdisciplinary examination of this issue and, simultaneously, to draw attention to the impact of sociocultural and global factors, which influence the cross-border M&A processes.

Key words: cross-border, merger, acquisition, factors, assessment, motivation

JEL Classification: G 34, F 20, A 10

Introduction

Capital re-allocation through implementation of cross-border mergers and acquisitions (M&A) is one of the major global phenomena. These processes are an important indicator of economic activity and the development of capital markets. Cross-border mergers and acquisitions are one of the major types of foreign investment worldwide, which has been documented by a 27% increase in M&A volume value globally in the third quarter of 2018 compared to the same period a year earlier and, according to [1], reaching a value in this period in absolute terms of \$3.0 trillion. The implementation and efficiency of M&A processes is multifactorially conditioned. Factors of different macro- and microeconomic nature enter these processes, as evidenced by numerous published research studies (e.g. [2]-[17]).

One of the important aspects is also their subjective perception. Within the framework of this concept, the paper focuses on the managerial view and identification of the links between the perception of the cross-border merger and acquisition motivation attributes and the specified perception factors of their implementation in the pre-merger-and-acquisition process. The merits of this view were also based on our efforts to implement the concept of approach to behavioral economics, which by means of the

synergy effect supports the exploration of the potential of the economic sciences by more real psychological aspects of the economic and managerial behavior. It is the concept of behavioral economics that is currently one of the innovative disciplines with regard to the ability to integrate psychological phenomena into economic models so that these predict human behavior and decision making more accurately and reliably.

Literature review

In order to analyze the pre-merger-and-acquisition process, knowledge published in various scientific studies, e.g. [2]-[11], [13], [18]-[20], should be taken into account. In this context it is thus possible to specify several factors of this process.

The first factor is synergy potential, which in terms of M&A efficiency is the achievement of synergies in the following directions: performance synergy, financial synergy and operational synergy. Performance synergy, together with the potential financial synergy, integrate the growth trend of the overall performance of the target enterprise (cash flow, capital expenditure requirements), lower capital costs due to better access to credit resources at lower interest rates and lower tax rates, provided that the specific legal form of the related undertakings is appropriately chosen. Ultimately, performance synergies with financial synergies lead to a reduction in total tax costs and even permanent tax savings. Operational synergy results from the merging and improvement of the operational efficiency of the various business areas of the merged enterprises, in particular in the areas of product manufacturing and service provision, knowledge capital and know-how within the merged enterprise and ultimately to more efficient management and elimination of duplicate activities as well as the concentration of knowledge, know-how, research and development.

In the pre-M&A phase, account should also be taken of information relating to the selected aspects of the business environment, such as the strategic relationship between the acquirer and the target business, the cultural aspects and the resulting differences, the geographical location of the investment, access and compatibility of the target business with the information system's infrastructure of the business of the acquirer.

When creating an investment benefit from a merger or acquisition transaction, the following indicators must be considered: acquisition premium, multiple bids, due diligence, investment banking advisory. In a merger or acquisition, an enterprise gains the opportunity to control the assets of another enterprise or the entire enterprise at a price that reflects the acquisition premium, while the price offered, including the acquisition premium, depends on the competitive position of the target company, its market share, the existence of a brand, goodwill and know-how.

Another factor of the pre-M&A process, besides the aforementioned synergy potential, business environment, and investment benefit, it the financial management of an M&A transaction, which has the effect of an umbrella of financial synergy due to the spread of investment risk in the new business, thereby strengthening the financial stability of the larger company with a better capital structure and better access to credit facilities at lower interest rates (lower foreign capital costs). At the same time, as the financial opportunities of the company increase, potential improvements in the brand and reputation of the company occur, which is subsequently reflected in the growth of the market value of the company (expressed by higher prices of the company shares).

When the pre-M&A factors are considered, there is another issue arising before their implementation and that is the motivational attributes of mergers and acquisitions. These attributes can also be specified within the framework of the already published findings in this area of knowledge [21]-[23]. In the context of implementation of the pre-M&A process, taking into account the success of the entire transaction (in the post-M&A phase), these attributes can be described as growth acceleration of the acquiring company, utilization of the synergistic attributes of the acquired company with the reference to the acquiring company, achievement of the personal goals, vision, and particular objectives of the acquiring company's chief executive, broadening the acquiring company's customer base by extending products and services, capturing the scale economies to save costs through combining two firms within an industry, and expanding the capacity at less cost than constructing new properties. All these motives, along with the pre-merger factors, will be analyzed in the following research study.

Research methodology

In order to identify and investigate the key factors of the pre-merger-and-acquisition process, a questionnaire research was carried out to identify significant factors related to decision-making and the subsequent preparation of the merger or acquisition process before its implementation. Based on our previous research published in a scientific study [17], four key factors of the pre-merger-and-acquisition process were identified according to our original aDM&A methodology – ante-Determinants of Mergers and Acquisitions, namely Synergy potential, Business environment, Investment benefit, and Financial management.

In the case of identifying and investigating the key motivational attributes of cross-border mergers and acquisitions implementation, our original mM&A methodology (Motivation Attributes of Cross-Border M&As) was also used to identify six motivational attributes of implementing capital reallocation through M&As, namely Growth acceleration, Synergistic attributes utilization, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, Cost saving, and Capacity expansion.

Building on our previous research [17], our intention in this paper is to characterize the relationship between the perception of motivational attributes of cross-border M&As implementation by means of mM&A methodology (Motivation Attributes of Cross-Border M&A), and the specified perception factors of the pre-M&A process identified by the aDM&A methodology (Ante-Determinants of Mergers and Acquisitions). The context analysis was therefore performed between six motivational attributes – Growth acceleration, Synergistic attributes utilization, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, Cost saving, and Capacity expansion, and four factors of perception of pre-merger-and-acquisition process – Synergy potential, Business environment, Investment benefit, and Financial management.

Research sample

The identification and specification of the key factors of the pre-merger-and-acquisition process and the motivational attributes of cross-border mergers and acquisitions were based on an analysis of the views of the managers of 120 companies (international corporations) located in 45 EEA countries, which had been subject of a cross-border M&A process in the period of 2010-2016, and which had market capitalization of more than \notin 100 million. Enterprises were selected from the Zephyr database [24]; 1000 companies were addressed.

The responses received from the 120 companies involved in the research were analyzed. This selection can be considered intentional and at the same time volunteer-based. The way in which companies were selected is also related to an adequate level of generalization of the results obtained. The research sample consisted of 108 male managers and 12 female managers aged 21 to 65 years (average age: 42.90 years, standard deviation: 11.270 years) who worked in the company from 1 to 25 years (average: 11.50 years, standard deviation: 6.118 years). These managers held the position within the top management of the company.

Research results

The results of the presented data analysis (by means of Pearson correlation coefficient) confirm the existence of several statistically significant correlations between the assessment of M&A motives and the assessment of pre-M&A factors (Table 1).

Table I Links between cross-border	r M&A motiv	ation attributes an	a pre-M&A facto	or assessment
Pre-M&A factors	Synergy	Business	Investment	Financial
	potential	environment	benefit	management
Motivation attributes	*			C
Growth acceleration	.169	.711	.347	.095
Sig.	.066	.000	.000	.304
Synergistic attributes utilization	.289	.088	002	.713
Sig.	.001	.340	.987	.000

 Table 1 Links between cross-border M&A motivation attributes and pre-M&A factor assessment

Goal and vision achievement	.208	.747	.189	.084
Sig.	.023	.000	.038	.360
Product and service extension	.419	.356	.313	.347
Sig.	.000	.000	.000	.000
Cost saving	.320	.438	.066	.289
Sig.	.000	.000	.471	.001
Capacity expansion	.081	.365	.291	.475
Sig.	.381	.000	.001	.000

According to the analysis, the pre-acquisition factor of Synergy potential positively correlates with the motives of Synergistic attributes utilization, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, and Cost saving. This means that those managers, who assessed the importance of synergy potential as a pre-acquisition attribute in the sense of performance synergies, financial synergies and operational synergies at a higher level, also attributed greater importance to the motives of Synergistic attributes utilization, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, and Cost saving.

The results of data analysis also confirmed the existence of statistically significant positive correlations between the assessment of the pre-acquisition factor Business environment and the motives of Growth acceleration, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, Cost saving, and Capacity expansion. It means that managers, who have assessed the importance of the business environment as a pre-acquisition attribute in the sense of strategic relationship between the acquirer and the target business, taking into account cultural aspects and the resulting differences, geographic location of the investment, access to and compatibility of the target business with the information system infrastructure of the acquirer's company at a higher level, at the same time gave greater importance to the motive of using Growth acceleration, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, Cost saving, and Capacity expansion.

The results of the data analysis further confirmed the existence of statistically significant positive correlations between the assessment of the pre-acquisition factor of Investment benefit and the motives of Growth acceleration, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, and Capacity expansion. It means that those managers, who assessed at a higher level the importance of Investment benefit as a pre-acquisition attribute in the sense of the following indicators: acquisition premium, multiple bids, due diligence, investment banking advisory, at the same time attributed greater importance to the motives of Growth acceleration, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, and Capacity expansion.

The correlation analysis of the data also confirmed the existence of statistically significant positive correlations between the assessment of the pre-acquisition factor of Financial management, and the motives of Synergistic attributes utilization, Product and service extension, Cost saving, and Capacity expansion. The managers who assessed at a higher level the importance of financial management as a pre-acquisition attribute in terms of spreading investment risk in a new business, creating the effect of an umbrella of financial synergy, a larger, more financially stable business with better capital structure and better access to credit facilities for lower interest, and in the sense of better financial opportunities for the business as a result of its growth, access to cheaper foreign resources in larger volumes, and lower transaction costs, also attributed greater importance to the motives of Synergistic attributes utilization, Product and service extension, Cost saving, Capacity expansion.

Discussion

As it was presented above, the extracted key **factors of the pre-merger-and-acquisition process**, taking into account the knowledge published in scientific literature [2]-[17] can be characterized content-wise as follows:

1. Synergy potential

Synergy potential in terms of M&A efficiency is the achievement of synergies in the following directions: performance synergy, financial synergy and operational synergy. In any case, the synergy potential leads to a higher value of the post-merger business compared to the difference that arises between the present value of the newly created business and the sum of the present values of these businesses before the merger or acquisition. As with any investment, cross-border M&A is seen by

managers as an opportunity to increase business value, as evidenced by the positive correlation of Synergy potential as one of the key factors of the pre-merger-and-acquisition process with the motivational attributes, such as Synergistic attributes utilization, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, and Cost saving.

2. Business environment

The aspects of the Business environment factor (the strategic relationship between the acquirer and the target business, the cultural aspects and the resulting differences, the geographical location of the investment, access and compatibility of the target business with the information system's infrastructure of the business of the acquirer) contribute, in a comprehensive perception, to building "empires" to diversify and hedge against shocks in the sector, effectiveness of the functioning of the corporation as a whole, and facilitating operational and organizational integration while creating a competitive advantage, ultimately explaining the higher degree of importance of the M&A motivational attributes in the context of Growth acceleration, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, Cost saving, and Capacity expansion.

3. Investment benefit

In an M&A, an enterprise gains the opportunity to control the assets of another enterprise or the entire enterprise at a price that reflects the acquisition premium, while the price offered, including the acquisition premium, depends on the competitive position of the target company, its market share, the existence of a brand, goodwill and know-how. This is confirmed by the positive correlation of Investment benefit as one of the pre-M&A factors with the motivational attributes of the whole process in the form of Growth acceleration, Goal and vision achievement, Product and service extension, and Capacity expansion.

Due diligence is an essential requirement of any transactional activity and a minimum requirement to eliminate the negative consequences of incorrect decisions. In essence, in the case of a merger or acquisition, it is an analysis of the target enterprise, in the case of a sale (by the target enterprise) it is an analysis of an own enterprise, while the purpose of the analysis is to objectively identify the current state of the enterprise, primarily in the legal, financial, taxation, and ecological areas. The basic objectives of due diligence include assessing the compliance of the external presentation of the company under review with its actual status, i.e. whether the undertaking under examination is indeed in a condition as it appears to be externally and a verification that the intended investment will meet the investment criteria required by the investor. In the case of M&A banking advisory firms, investment bankers have developed on the market dominant independent entities that act as "lead architects of business combinations" in a more aggressive role throughout the process.

4. Financial management

Financial management of a M&A transaction has the effect of an umbrella of financial synergy due to the spread of investment risk in the new business, thereby strengthening the financial stability of the larger company with a better capital structure and better access to credit facilities at lower interest rates (lower foreign capital costs). At the same time, as the financial opportunities of the company increase, potential improvements in the brand and reputation of the company occur, which is subsequently reflected in the growth of the market value of the company (expressed by higher prices of the company shares). For this reason, this factor positively correlates with motivational attributes such as Synergistic attributes utilization, Product and service extension, Cost saving, and Capacity expansion.

Motivational attributes of mergers and acquisitions can be specified within the framework of the already published findings in this area of knowledge [21]-[23] and in the context of implementation of the pre-M&A process, taking into account the success of the entire transaction (in the post-M&A phase), in terms of their content as follows:

1. Growth acceleration: accelerate growth of the acquiring company

One of the primary motives for mergers and acquisitions implementation is achieving growth. Companies, which have an ambition to grow, must choose between an internal (organic) growth and a growth through mergers and acquisitions. Internal growth can be a slow and uncertain process, while growth through mergers and acquisitions is a much faster process, although it brings its own uncertainties. Companies can grow in their own industry or outside their business category. Extending beyond the industry means diversifying the business. If a company seeks to grow, it may conclude that internal growth is not an acceptable alternative to it, as the company's slow growth through internal expansion allows competitors to gain more market share. Corporate managers are under constant pressure to grow, all the more so if the company had managed to grow in the past. However, when demand for products or services slows, growth is difficult to achieve. For this reason, M&As are considered a solution. Managers assume that reallocation of the capital through mergers and acquisitions will lead not only to revenue growth, but also to improving the company's profitability through synergies (using synergy attributes).

2. Synergistic attributes utilization: utilize synergistic attributes of the acquired company with the reference to the acquiring company

The successfulness of mergers and acquisitions depends to a large extent on the ability of managers to manage the pre- and post-acquisition critical success factors with the necessary and constant subjective confidence in the successful implementation of the M&A project in order to benefit from the synergies that are brought by the merging of two companies.

Some mergers and acquisitions are motivated by the belief that the management of the acquiring company can better manage the resources of the target company. The source company believes that its managerial abilities and skills will increase the value of the target company. That is why the acquiring company is willing to pay more for the target company than the current value of the shares of that company. The argument of using the synergic attributes of an acquired company with reference to the acquiring company is particularly valid in the case of large companies applying for small, growing companies.

3. Goal and vision achievement: achieve the personal goals, vision, and particular objectives of the acquiring company's chief executive

On the one hand, mergers and acquisitions bring positive synergy effects, but at the same time they place greater demands on the management of an even larger company. Managing growth through M&A strategies is ultimately intended to improve the shareholders' position and bring them higher returns, commensurate with the size of the merged company.

4. Product and service extension: broaden the acquiring company's customer base by extending products and services

Smaller companies managed by entrepreneurs may offer a unique product or service that sells well and show the potential for further rapid growth. This growing business must gradually oversee a much larger distribution network and will have to adopt a different marketing philosophy that requires a different set of managerial skills. Lack of managerial experience and skills can hinder a smaller growing company and limit its ability to compete in the wider market. It is these management resources that the acquiring company can offer to the target company.

Mergers and acquisitions may also be driven by the desire to gain access to new markets and the associated new client base. For example, if one bank merges with another bank, each acquires the other bank's client base. In some cases, the acquired client base may be a market that was previously unavailable. For instance, if one bank specialized in foreign clients and the other bank in domestic clients, after the merger, the new company will have a more balanced client base.

5. Cost saving: capture scale economies to save costs through combining two firms within an industry Mergers and acquisitions are a tool for "expanded entrepreneurship" in new areas in order to achieve strategic goals of the new business, while increasing managerial efficiency and performance with an emphasis on the cost savings by joining two companies and achieving synergistic "expanded business" attributes, including expanding the capacities at lower costs, like creating new qualities and skills.

6. Capacity expansion: expand capacity at less cost than constructing new properties

The aim of M&As may also be an effort of a company to acquire a specific skill (in the case of personnel issues) or resources owned by another company. This type of merger occurs mainly when a smaller company has developed specific skills with high added value over several years and it would take a long time for the source (acquiring) company to create the same skills and require significant investment.

The presented results of the obtained data analysis, as well as our previous findings [14]-[16], unambiguously confirmed the multidimensional concepts of both the motivational attributes of crossborder mergers and acquisitions and the pre-merger-and-acquisition process factors. At the same time, these results confirmed the meaningfulness of considering the links between the motivational factors of cross-border mergers and acquisitions and the assessment of the pre-merger and acquisition factors. In this context, it is necessary to draw particular attention to the connection between the Business environment factor and the motives of Growth acceleration and Goal and vision achievement, or the factor of Financial management and the motive of Synergistic attributes utilization. The presented results confirmed the importance of the primary goal of cross-border mergers and acquisitions to strengthen the financial stability of a larger company and its capital structure. This ultimately allows for market value growth, which correlates highly with the motive of using synergistic attributes. These findings also support the need to adopt a comprehensive cross-border merger and acquisition approach that includes the geographical location of investment related to the cultural, value, political, and security aspects of the society [25]-[27].

Conclusion

Research into the relationship between the perception of motivational attributes of cross-border mergers and acquisitions by means of the mM&A methodology (Motivation Attributes of Cross-Border M&A) and the specified perception factors of the pre-merger and acquisition process identified by the aDM&A methodology present one of the possible concepts of behavioral economics. The results presented in the previous studies as well as in this paper illustrate the merits of this approach. At the same time, they contribute to a holistic view of the issues examined. As in other conclusions, in this case it is necessary to consider the degree of generalization, the universality of the findings. In this sense, there is a need to analyze data from a larger number of companies and to take into account the socio-cultural attributes and the traditional values of the environment in which mergers and acquisitions take place [25]-[27]. In connection with the presented results and their interpretation, it is necessary to point out that this is only one possible view of the motivational structure of cross-border mergers and acquisitions and the assessment of pre-merger-and-acquisition process factors.

Acknowledgements

The contribution was compiled as part of the VEGA project no. 1/0031/17 "Cross-border mergers and acquisitions in the context of economic and social determinants in the European area".

References

- BLOOMBERG GLOBAL M&A MARKET REVIEW 1st 3Q2018. Available at: https:// data.bloomberglp.com/professional/sites/10/Bloomberg-Global-MA-Legal-Ranking-1st-3Q2018.pdf
- [2] LARSSON, R., and FINKELSTEIN, S., 1999. Integrating Strategic, Organizational, and Human Resource Perspectives on Mergers and Acquisitions: A Case Survey of Synergy Realization. *Organization Science*, 10(1), 1-26.
- [3] KIM, K. H., and OLSEN, M. D., 1999. Determinants of successful acquisition processes in the US lodging industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 18(3), 285-307.
- [4] FULLER, K., NETTER, J., and STEGEMOLLER, M., 2002. What do returns to acquiring firms tell us? Evidence from firms that make many acquisitions. *The Journal of Finance*, 57(4), 1763-1793.
- [5] MERCER, Z. Ch., 2002. An Integrated Theory of Business Valuation. ASA/CICBC 5th Joint Advanced Business Valuation Conference, Orlando, 2002.
- [6] GOERGEN, M., and RENNEBOOG, L., 2004. Shareholder wealth effects of European domestic and cross-border takeover bids. *European Financial Management*, 10(1), 9-45.
- [7] SIROWER, M. L., and SAHNI, S., 2006. Avoiding the synergy trap: practical guidance on M&A decisions for CEOs and boards. *Journal of Applied Corporate Finance*, *18*, 83–95.
- [8] FICERY, K., HERD, T., and PURSCHE, B., 2007) Where has all the synergy gone? The M&A puzzle. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 28(5), 29-35.
- [9] BJÖRKMAN, I., STAHL, G. K., and VAARA, E., 2007. Cultural differences and capability transfer in cross-border acquisitions: The mediating roles of capability complementarity, absorptive capacity, and social integration. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 38(4), 658-672.
- [10] MERCER, Z. Ch., and HARMS, T. W., 2008. *Business Valuation: An Integrated Theory*. 2nd Edition. New York: Wiley Finance.

- [11] STAHL, G. K., and VOIGT, A., 2008. Do cultural differences matter in mergers and acquisitions? A tentative model and examination. *Organization science*, 19(1), 160-176.
- [12] CAPRIO L., CROCI E., and GIUDICE A. D., 2011. Ownership Structure, Family Control, and Acquisition Decisions. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 17(5), 1636–1657.
- [13] CHANG, S., CHANG, I., and WANG, T., 2014. Information systems integration after merger and acquisition. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 114(1), 37-52.
- [14] HEČKOVÁ, J., FRANKOVSKÝ, M., BIRKNEROVÁ, Z., CHAPČÁKOVÁ, A., and ZBIHLEJOVÁ, L., 2017a. Analysis of the post-merger and acquisition process of implementation of the cross-border mergers and acquisitions by means of the pDM&A methodology. Journal of Management and Business: Research and Practice, 9(2), 26-34.
- [15] HEČKOVÁ, J., FRANKOVSKÝ, M., BIRKNEROVÁ, Z., CHAPČÁKOVÁ, A., and ZBIHLEJOVÁ, L., 2017b. Cross-border mergers and acquisitions in the context of key determinants of their implementation in the pre-merger-and-acquisition process. *New Trends and Issues Proceedings on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 4(10), 442-450 (Selected Paper of 6th World Conference on Business, Economics and Management (WBEM 2017), 4-6 May 2017. Kyrenia (North Cyprus), 2017).
- [16] HEČKOVÁ, J., FRANKOVSKÝ, M., BIRKNEROVÁ, Z., CHAPČÁKOVÁ, A., and ZBIHLEJOVÁ, L., 2017c. Cross-border mergers and acquisitions in the context of the key determinants of their reflection in the post-merger-and-acquisition process. *Proceedings of the Sixth European Academic Research Conference on Global Business, Economics, Finance and Social Sciences* (EAR17Italy Conference). Rome, 1-3 July 2017.
- [17] HEČKOVÁ, J., FRANKOVSKÝ, M., BIRKNEROVÁ, Z., and CHAPČÁKOVÁ, A., 2018. Cezhraničné fúzie a akvizície v kontexte vnímania faktorov ich realizácie v pred- a postfúzijnom a akvizičnom procese. *Politická ekonomie*, 66(5), 609-632.
- [18] SIROWER, M. L., 1997. *The Synergy Trap: How Companies Lose the Acquisition Game*. New York: The Free Press.
- [19] LOVERDE, L., 1990. Technology Driven Deals in Mergers and Acquisitions: How Are They Different? *The Corporate Growth Report* (April), 5-20.
- [20] ASQUITH, P., BRUNER, R. F., and MULLINS, Jr., D. W., 1983. The gains to bidding firms from merger. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 11, 121-139.
- [21] FLORIO, M., FERRARIS, M., and VANDONE, D., 2018. Motives of mergers and acquisitions by state-owned enterprises: A taxonomy and international evidence. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 31(2), 142-166.
- [22] WANG, Y., CARR, CH., and LIU, Y., 2016. Strategic motivations and performances of crossborder mergers and acquisitions: evidence from Chinese acquiring firms. *The Business & Management Review*, 7(5), 421.
- [23] BOATENG, A., QIAN, W., and TIANLE, Y., 2008. Cross-Border M&As by Chinese Firms: An Analysis of Strategic Motives and Performance. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, 50(4), 259-270.
- [24] BUREAU VAN DIJK, 2017. Zephyr. Data for the period of 2010–2016. Available at: http://www.bvdinfo.com/en-gb/our-products/economic-and-m-a/m-a-data/zephyr
- [25] CHEN, V. Z., 2019. Shareholder wealth effects of cultural diversity among blockholders: Evidence from cross-border acquisitions by US-listed companies. *Corporate Governance-an International Review*, 27(3), 186-209.
- [26] LI, W. D., TANG, Y. Z., and WANG, Z. Z., 2010. Study on Culture Integration in Chinese Enterprises' Cross-Border Merger & Acquisition-From the perspective of business culture. *EBM* 2010: International Conference on Engineering and Business Management, 1-8, 180-185.
- [27] LIU, R. B., YU, X. S., and CUI, Y., 2006. Analysis of the latest characteristics and motivation of M & As among multinational banks. *International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management IEEM. Shandong Univ, Weihai, PEOPLES R CHINA*, 3411-3415.

Authors' addresses: doc. Ing. Jaroslava Hečková, PhD.

Department of Economics and Economy Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: jaroslava.heckova@unipo.sk

doc. PhDr. Miroslav Frankovský, CSc.

Department of Managerial Psychology Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínova 16, 08001 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: miroslav.frankovsky@unipo.sk

Mgr. Lucia Zbihlejová, PhD.

Department of Intercultural Communication Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: lucia.zbihlejova@unipo.sk

doc. PaedDr. Zuzana Birknerová, PhD., MBA

Department of Managerial Psychology Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínova 16, 08001 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: zuzana.birknerova@unipo.sk

doc. Ing. Alexandra Chapčáková, PhD.

Department of Economics and Economy Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínová 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: alexandra.chapcakova@unipo.sk

PROFITABILITY OF THE SLOVAK SPA INDUSTRY ZISKOVOSŤ SLOVENSKÉHO KÚPEĽNÍCTVA

Abstract: In the European context, Slovakia is considered a traditional spa destination. The aim of the paper is to evaluate the financial situation of the Slovak spa industry and selected spa companies using financial metrics. Quantitative data for the period 2013-2018 were obtained from the Register of Financial Statements of the Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic and from the financial statements of individual companies operating in industry according to SK NACE 869 - Other human health activities. The results of the analysis provided a financial perspective on the Slovak spa industry as well as on the largest spa in terms of employment (Slovak Health Spa Piešťany, a.s.), on the most profitable spa companies (Spa Bojnice, a.s.), and on the spa in the Region of the High Tatras (Spa Nový Smokovec, a.s.).

Key words: Spa Companies, Indicators, Financial Situation, Profitability

Kľúčové slová: kúpeľné spoločnosti, ukazovatele, finančná situácia, ziskovosť

JEL classification: Z32, I15

1 Introduction

At present, spa tourism has become one of the major forms of the tourism. The importance of spa and health tourism is also determined by the fact that it is considered, within the marketing strategy of tourism development, as the third most important form of tourism. More and more authors are currently engaged in the Slovak spa industry, its genesis, insights into its past, present, and future. Valuable are the works of the authors of the Faculty of Management of the University of Prešov. Specifically Košíková [6] studied medical tourism, Šenková [12], Vašaničová [13], Mitríková, Sobeková Voľanská, Šenková [11], Litavcová, Jenčová, Košíková, Šenková [9], Jenčová, Litavcová, Petruška, Vašaničová [4], [5] discussed the financial and economic analysis of the Slovak spa companies; Jenčová, Vašaničová, Petruška [3] provided this analysis for the spa companies of the Czech Republic.

Slovak spa industry, with its multiplier effect on the development of business activities, has positive prospects for further development for several reasons. It has a high concentration of natural healing resources, qualified employees, and a rich spa tradition [2]. In our opinion, the Slovak spa industry requires more attention of the state, local governments, business entities, and academic institutions when applying current scientific knowledge in the theoretical and practical field. Therefore, the aim of this paper is to evaluate the financial situation of the Slovak spa industry and selected spa companies using financial metrics.

2 Basic information on the Slovak spa companies

In 2018, 21 spa companies employing 3,750 people operated in the Slovak Republic, and their annual turnover was EUR 155,313,938. The largest spa companies include Slovak Health Spa Piešťany, a.s.; Slovak Health Spa Rajecké Teplice, a.s.; Bardejov Spa, a.s.; Slovak Health Spa Turčianske Teplice, a.s.; Spa Trenčianske Teplice, a.s.

For the accounting period, 12 spa companies recorded a profit, and 9 spa companies recorded a loss (Spa Trenčianske Teplice, a.s.; Spa Vyšné Ružbachy, a.s.; Spa Brusno, a.s.; Slovthermae Spa Diamant, Dudince, state enterprise; Spa Sliač, a.s.; Natural Iodine Spa Číž, a.s.; Spa Červený Kláštor Smerdžonka PIENINY RESORT, s.r.o.; Spa Kováčová, s.r.o.; Spa Štós, a.s.). In a base period (2013),

3 spa companies was at a loss (Spa Vyšné Ružbachy, a.s.; Spa Sliač, a.s.; Natural Iodine Spa Číž, a.s.). The total revenue generated for all spa companies is growing at an average rate of growth, which is determined by the geometric mean, by 5%. Most of the operating profit generated from one euro of assets, i.e., highest return on assets was achieved by Spa Nimnica, a.s. (EUR 0.11), Bardejov Spa, a.s. (EUR 0.08). Most of the profit generated from one euro of revenues was recorded in Spa Bojnice, a.s. (EUR 0.27), Spa Nimnica, a.s. (EUR 0.17); Spa Dudince, š.p. (EUR 0.14), Bardejov Spa, a.s. (EUR 0.10). The largest share of added value in total turnover was achieved by Spa Bojnice, a.s. (0.723). Jenčová et al. (2018a, 2018b) stated that according to the results of multi-criteria evaluation and based on quantification of competitiveness, market position or concentration, Spa Bojnice, a.s., and Spa Lúčky, a.s. achieved in the reporting period the best results.

In 2016, spa companies recorded 316,046 visitors, and until this year, the number of spa visitors was increasing. In 2017, there was a decline, the growth rate was -1.55%, and the year-on-year index was 0.98. The highest growth rate of visitors (7.39%) was in the period 2013-2014. Fig. 1 presents the development of base (BI) and chain (CI) indexes separately for domestic visitors and foreign visitors for the period 2013-2017, while the year 2013 is the base period. In 2017, in compare with base year, we can see the decrease in the average number of overnight stays of domestic visitors (9.1), and also of foreign visitors (7.7). However, the year-on-year change is increasing.



2015

CI foreign

2016

BI comestic

2017

•BI foreign

Fig. 1 Development of base and chain indexes of number of visitors of Slovak spa companies for domestic and foreign visitors

Source: own processing

3 Data and Methodology

0.25

0

2014

CI domestic

3.1 Data

As we mentioned, there are 21 spa companies in Slovakia. In terms of legal form, they are 16 jointstock companies (a.s.), 3 limited-liability companies (s.r.o.) and 2 state-owned enterprises. Data entering the analysis were obtained from the Register of Financial Statements of the Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic, and from the financial statements of individual spa companies [10]. They are annual and cover a period of 2013-2018. Moreover, we use data on the number of bed places, and on the number of visitors of Slovak spa companies, separately, for domestic and foreign visitors for the period 2013-2017. For three analyzed spa companies (Slovak Health Spa Piešťany, a.s., Spa Bojnice, a.s., and Spa Nový Smokovec, a.s), we use data on the number of employees.

3.2 Methodology

The aim of the paper is to evaluate the financial situation of the Slovak spa industry and selected spa companies using selected financial metrics. We analyze return on investment (ROI) of all 21 spa companies operating in Slovak Republic and other financial indicators (connected with profitability)

among Slovak Health Spa Piešťany, a.s., Spa Bojnice, a.s., and Spa Nový Smokovec, a.s. Specifically, we use indicators of indebtedness, profit margin, total assets turnover ratio, return on assets, return on sales. Besides that, we use absolute indicators of total equity, total assets, earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), earnings after taxes (EAT), base and chain indexes, and growth rate.

4 Financial Situations of the Selected Spa Companies

In Tab. 1, we present return on investment (ROI) for the period 2013-2018, which represents the ratio of EAT to capital (share of EAT turns out per one euro of total capital). Highlighted cells represent cases where the company had total profitability of more than one percent. In other cases, companies reported a loss or generated less than one Eurocent per euro of total capital.

	1	1	1			
Spa company	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Spa Bojnice, a.s.	0.0321	0.0865	0.0787	0.0873	0.0725	0.0683
Spa Nimnica, a.s.	0.0170	0.0114	-0.0045	0.0282	0.0681	0.0885
Spa Horný Smokovec, s.r.o.	0.0151	0.6537	0.0128	0.0137	0.0624	0.0448
Spa Lúčky, a.s.	0.0047	0.0340	0.0609	0.0576	0.0507	0.0043
Spa Dudince, a.s.	0.0267	0.0306	0.0233	0.0399	0.0477	0.0419
Bardejov Spa, a.s.	0.0506	0.0236	0.0518	0.0190	0.0370	0.0598
Specialized Medical Institute Marína, state ent.	0.0522	0.0506	0.0507	0.0474	0.0357	0.0277
Slovak Health Spa Rajecké Teplice, a.s.	0.0248	0.0073	0.0354	0.0522	0.0233	0.0215
Slovak Health Spa Piešťany, a.s.	0.0246	0.0260	0.0278	0.0130	0.0202	0.0245
Spa Lučivná, a.s.	0.1773	0.0078	0.0040	-0.0383	0.0164	0.0174
Spa Vyšné Ružbachy, a.s.	-0.0169	-0.0245	-0.0103	-0.0006	0.0095	-0.0037
Spa Trenčianske Teplice, a.s.	0.0091	0.0046	0.0047	0.0057	0.0055	0.0068
Slovak Health Spa Turčianske Teplice, a.s.	0.0149	0.0251	0.0201	0.0147	0.0046	-0.0288
Spa Nový Smokovec, a.s.	0.0192	0.0149	0.0105	0.0138	0.0045	0.0075
Slovthermae Spa Diamant, Dudince, state ent.	0.0136	0.0163	0.0075	-0.0242	0.0039	-0.0240
PIENINY RESORT, s.r.o.	-0.0267	-0.0324	-0.0147	-0.0249	-0.0177	-0.0152
Spa Brusno, a.s. (in restructuring)	0.0026	-0.0505	-0.0411	-0.4215	-0.0310	-0.0049
Natural Iodine Spa Číž, a.s.	-0.0316	-0.0113	-0.0260	-0.1236	-0.0826	-0.0904
Spa Štós, a.s	0.0454	0.0450	0.0078	0.0239	-0.1111	-0.0373
Spa Sliač, a.s.	-0.1914	-0.1206	-0.0903	-0.1071	-0.1270	-0.1349
Spa Kováčová, s.r.o.	0.0111	-0.0164	-0.0382	-0.0451	-0.1410	-0.0585

Tab. 1: Profitability of the total capital of the Slovak spa companies for the period 2013-2018

(Source: own calculation)

4.1 Financial Situations of the Slovak Health Spa Piešťany

For more than 100 years, Slovak Health Spa Piešťany has been one of Europe's important, and leading spas in the treatment of rheumatism, rehabilitation of the musculoskeletal system and the nervous system. They use natural resources - unique healing sulphuric mud and thermal mineral water. They offer hotels that are available for all population groups, for example: Danubius Health Spa Resort THERMIA PALACE****, Danubius Health Spa Resort, Esplanade****, Health Spa Resort ESPLANADE**** wing PALACE, Spa Hotel SPLENDID***, Spa Hotel PRO PATRIA**, Spa hotel Jalta**, Dependance Smaragd** and Šumava**, Vila Trajan** [1].

At present, Slovak Health Spa Piešťany employs 908 employees, ranking them first among the spa companies in the Slovak Republic in terms of employment. In 2015, the number of visitors was 44,558; in 2017, it was 44,413 visitors. Domestic visitors represented, in 2017, 46.15%, and that is exactly 20,497 visitors. In 2015, the number of domestic visitors reached a value of 20,557, and the

number of foreign visitors was 24,001. The number of bed places increased from 2,400 (in 2015) to 2,439 (in 2017). The company has equity of EUR 61,804,384, which is 86.14% of total assets. The overall indebtedness is minimal, because per EUR 1 of total capital turns out EUR 0.14 of liabilities. The total assets turnover ratio is 0.51. During the reporting period, the spas achieved a profit for the accounting period. Taking into account the base period of 2013, in 2018, the growth rate of earnings after taxes (EAT) was 1.36%, and its value was EUR 1,754,972, in compare with the base period. The company posted the largest profit in 2015 when its value was EUR 2,030,187. It is remarkable that already in the following year 2016, there was a decrease to EUR 937,393, which was a negative decrease of 53.82% in relative terms. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) reached from EUR 2.4 to 2.8 million, except 2016, when there is a decrease to EUR 1,411,993. The profit is reflected in the return on assets, which is quantified by the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes to the total assets. In 2018, per EUR 1 of total assets turns out EUR 0.035 of EBIT. In 2016, per one euro of total assets turns out only EUR 0.02 of EBIT. Taking into account the financial productivity metrics, and share of value added in sales or total turnover, it can be stated that, in 2018, in this company, one euro of sales generated EUR 0.63 of value added, which is at the base period level. The chain index of this indicator is greater than one, which means a positive development. In 2018, the profit margin, measured by the ratio of EBIT to the net turnover, reached 6.8%, which represents a negative decrease compared to the previous year (7.2%). Overall, the company achieved the worst productivity indicators in 2016. However, in 2017, it has already seen positive growth in all efficiency indicators and a decrease in intensity indicators.

4.2 Financial Situations of the Spa Bojnice

The basis of the medical procedures in the Spa Bojnice is natural, medicinal, hydrogen-carbonatesulphate, calcium-magnesium hypotonic akratotherm with a temperature of 28-52 °C, which rises from 9 springs [7]. The spa offers nine treatment houses, specifically, Treatment House Mier, Treatment House Lux, Treatment House Slávia, Treatment House Gabriela, Treatment House Tribeč, Treatment House Zobor, Treatment House Kl'ak, Treatment House Ploska, Treatment House Leknín, Velčice House – extension to Treatment House Mier [1].

Spa Bojnice, a.s. is the third largest spa in terms of employment. Currently, 259 people are employed here. They ranked first in terms of the amount of profit generated. In 2018, EAT increased to EUR 2,432,473 from EUR 753,653 (in 2013). Company reported the highest net profit in 2016, when the value of EAT was EUR 2,683,753 and EBIT was EUR 3,441,723. An absolute indicator of the forms of profit or loss indicates higher profitability. Every year, the company generates more profits from one euro of revenues. In 2018, one euro of assets generated almost EUR 0.10 of operating profit. In 2018, per one euro of turnover turns out EUR 0.27 of operating profit; in 2016, it was even EUR 0.34. The volume of added value has an increasing trend. In 2018, its value increased to EUR 8,427,357 in compare with the value from 2013, which was only EUR 5,553,605. Financial labour productivity has a growing trend. Equity of EUR 34,142,031 represents 95.83% of total assets, which indicates the non-use of external resources. The total assets of the company increased from EUR 23,464,878 (in the base period of 2013) to the value of EUR 35,624,496, in 2018.

4.3 Financial Situations of the Spa Nový Smokovec

The spas from the Region of the High Tatras are mainly used by people with respiratory problems, with climatotherapy being the main treatment factor. Spa Nový Smokovec, a.s., belongs to the best known climatic spas in Slovakia [8]. Spa area consists of hotels, such as Palace***, Branisko***, Palace Grand*** [1]. The added value of the spa stay is the wellness centres and relax zones with pool.

The spa has 81 employees. In 2018, the annual turnover was EUR 2,821,576, which represents an increase of 41.64% over the base year. The absolute net turnover indicator shows a positive increase over the whole period. The EBIT shows variable development, because, in 2013, it was EUR 76,524 and until 2015 it grew to the value of EUR 96,846. In the next period, there has been a negative decline of 44.7%. Unfortunately, the company shows a profit. Earnings after taxes for the accounting period reached a value of EUR 23,597, in 2018, which was the lowest profit in the period 2017-2018.

The profit is a guarantee of profitability or yield of the spa company. The development of the valueadded indicator, which is growing throughout the period under review, is positive. Its value has almost doubled over five years, reaching EUR 934,390 in 2013. In 2018, per one euro of total assets turns out almost EUR 0.41 of liabilities, and it is in the recommended interval. Return on assets was 1.7%, in 2018. In the base year, one euro of assets generated EUR 0.03 of EBIT. Return on sales decreased from 3.8% to 1.9%. The company has seen an increase in the personnel cost indicator, which is negatively reflected in the entire cost.

Summary

The paper pointed to the financial indicators that determine the overall profitability of the spa industry in the Slovak Republic. For analyzed spa companies, profitability as a relative financial metric was assessed using productivity and efficiency indicators. The analysis was mainly focused on financial metrics of profitability, where we took into account the various forms of profit/earnings (absolute indicators taken from the company's financial statements). The results of the analyzes show that Spa Bojnice, a.s., can be clearly ranked among the spa companies with higher profitability. Their longterm spa owner and manager considers decentralization of management and regular evaluation of performance compared to the previous period to be very important [7]. On the contrary, a long-term loss is reported by Natural Iodine Spa Číž, a.s.; PIENINY RESORT, s.r.o.; Spa Brusno, a.s., which are in restructuring.

To increase profitability, all spa companies must practice active marketing on the domestic as well as on the foreign market (due to attract as many foreign clients as possible). An ideal solution would be an increasing number of self-payers. Each spa company should continue to invest, provide hotel reconstruction, should focus on expanding services and focus primarily on innovation. Spa companies with a reported loss need to stabilize this unfavourable economic situation.

In 2019, it is expected that the number of spa visitors will be increased by domestic visitors due to new support measures in the field of tourism, in particular through the introduction of holiday vouchers. For example, according to TANAP (National Park of High Tatras) data, in 2019, 24,000 tourists visited the Region of the High Tatras every day, which is an increase compared to previous years. In general, it can be stated that the Slovak spa industry is successful thanks to its tradition and increasingly participates in the development of tourism in the Slovak Republic.

Súhrn

Príspevok poukázal na finančné ukazovatele, ktoré determinujú celkovú ziskovosť kúpeľníctva Slovenskej republiky. Ziskovosť ako relatívna finančná metrika bola posudzovaná pre kúpeľné spoločnosti pomocou ukazovateľov produktívnosti, účinnosti, pričom najviac sa analýza orientuje na finančné metriky rentability, kde sme brali do úvahy jednotlivé podoby výsledku hospodárenia (absolútne ukazovatele prevzaté z účtovnej závierky danej spoločnosti). Výsledky analýz ukazujú, že medzi kúpeľné spoločnosti s vyššou ziskovosťou možno zaradiť jednoznačne Kúpele Bojnice, a.s. kde dlhoročný majiteľ a manažér kúpeľov za veľmi dôležité považuje decentralizáciu riadenia a pravidelné vyhodnocovanie výkonov oproti predošlému obdobiu [7]. Naopak, dlhodobú stratu vykazujú Prírodné jódové kúpele Číž, a.s., PIENINY RESORT, s.r.o., Kúpele Brusno, a.s. ktoré už sú v reštrukturalizácii. V záujme zvyšovania ziskovosti musia všetky kúpeľné spoločnosti praktizovať aktívny marketing tak na slovenskom, ako aj na zahraničných trhoch s cieľom získania čo najväčšieho počtu zahraničnej klientely. Ideálnym riešením by bol rastúci počet samoplatcov. Jednotlivé spoločnosti by mali pokračovať v investovaní, rekonštruovaní hotelov, zamerať sa na oblasť rozširovania služieb a hlavne orientovať sa na inovácie. V kúpeľných spoločnostiach s vykázanou stratou je nutná stabilizácia tejto nepriaznivej ekonomickej situácie.

V roku 2019 sa očakáva zvýšenie návštevnosti kúpeľných miest domácimi návštevníkmi vzhľadom na nové opatrenia podpory v oblasti cestovného ruchu, podpory turizmu a najmä zavedením rekreačných poukazov. Podľa údajov TANAPU v roku 2019 denne navštívilo región Vysoké Tatry 24 000 turistov, čo je nárast v porovnaní s minulými rokmi. Vo všeobecnosti je možné konštatovať, že slovenské kúpeľníctvo je vďaka svojej tradícií úspešné a čím ďalej viac participuje na rozvoji turizmu Slovenskej republiky.

Literature

[1] DANUBIUS HOTELS GROUP, 2019. Hotely. [online]. [viewed 4 October 2019]. Available from: https://www.danubiushotels.com/

[2] ELIAŠOVÁ, D., 2007. Podnikanie kúpeľných podnikov v novom ekonomickom prostredí. [online]. Košice, Ekonomická univerzita. [viewed 4 October 2019]. Available from: http://semafor. euke. sk/zbornik2007/pdf/eliasova2. pdf.

[3] JENČOVÁ, S., VAŠANIČOVÁ, P., and PETRUŠKA, I., 2019. Financial Position of the Slovak Spa companies. In: MUNI ECON Scientific Conference European Financial Systems: Conference proceedings. Brno, Czech Republic.

[4] JENČOVÁ, S., LITAVCOVÁ, E., PETRUŠKA, I., and VAŠANIČOVÁ, P., 2018a. Analytický pohľad na konkurencieschopnosť kúpeľných zariadení v podmienkach Slovenskej republiky. In: Ekonomická aktivita turizmu. Prešov, Bookman. p. 39-45.

[5] JENČOVÁ, S., LITAVCOVÁ, E., PETRUŠKA, I., and VAŠANIČOVÁ, P., 2018b. Competitiveness of spa companies. In: Management: management and the world in motion, challenges, opportunities and threats. Prešov: Bookman. p. 521-526.

[6] KOŠÍKOVÁ, M., 2018. Index medicínskeho cestovného ruchu. In: Ekonomická aktivita turizmu. Prešov, Bookman. p. 59-67.

[7] KÚPELE BOJNICE, 2019. Charakteristika. [online]. [viewed 4 October 2019]. Available from: http://www.kupele-bojnice.sk/

[8] KÚPELE NOVÝ SMOKOVEC, 2019. Kúpele Nový Smokovec. [online]. [viewed 4 October 2019]. Available from: http://kupelens.sk/

[9] LITAVCOVÁ, E., JENČOVÁ, S., KOŠÍKOVÁ, M., and ŠENKOVÁ, A., 2018. Implementation of multidimensional analytical methods to compare performance between spa facilities. In: International days of statistics and economics: Conference Proceedings. Prague, Czech Republic. p. 1070-1079.

[10] MINISTERSTVO FINANCIÍ SLOVENSKEJ REPUBLIKY, 2019. Register účtovných závierok. [online]. [viewed 4 October 2019]. Available from: http://www.registeruz.sk

[11] MITRÍKOVÁ, J., SOBEKOVÁ VOĽANSKÁ, M., ŠENKOVÁ A. et al., 2017. Bardejov Spa: the analysis of the visit rate in the context of historical periods of its development from 1814 to 2016. In: Ekonomičnyj časopys - XXI. Vol. 169, n. 9-10, p. 57-62. ISSN 1728-6239.

[12] ŠENKOVÁ, A., 2017. Kúpeľníctvo a kúpeľný cestovný ruch na Slovensku. Prešov: Prešovská univerzita v Prešove. ISBN 978-80-555-1919-7.

[13] VAŠANIČOVÁ, P., 2018. Cestovný ruch a ubytovacie zariadenia Slovenska: motívy účasti a analýza návštevnosti. Prešov: Vydavateľstvo Prešovskej univerzity. ISBN 978-80-555-2065-0.

Acknowledgements

This paper is supported by the grant No. 1/0470/18 (Economic activity of tourism in the European area) of the Grant Agency VEGA.

Contact

doc. Ing. Sylvia Jenčová, PhD. Faculty of Management University of Presov, Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov sylvia.jencova@unipo.sk

Mgr. Petra Vašaničová, PhD. Faculty of Management University of Presov, Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov petra.vasanicova@unipo.sk

Jaroslava HEČKOVÁ Alexandra CHAPČÁKOVÁ Stela MARKOVÁ

ANALYSIS OF THE COMPETITIVENESS OF THE SERVICE SECTOR IMPACTING CROSS-BORDER MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS IN THE COUNTRIES OF THE EUROPEAN AREA

ANALÝZA KONKURENCIESCHOPNOSTI SEKTORA SLUŽIEB VPLÝVAJÚCEJ NA CEZHRANIČNÉ FÚZIE A AKVIZÍCIE V KRAJINÁCH EURÓPSKEHO PRIESTORU

Abstrakt: The main objective of this paper is to analyze the competitiveness of the service sector impacts the volume of cross-border mergers and acquisitions in the European area in the reference period 2010-2015. This paper focuses on comparative advantage, namely the model RCA 2 (Revealed Comparative Advantage), which is defined as the ratio of the difference between export and import commodity groups and the sum of exports and imports of these commodity groups. The RCA 2 model assesses the comparative advantage of export and its competitive ability. In 2015, two sectors (hotels & restaurants, post & telecommunications) were competitive. For sectors (insurance companies, banks) that have seen a lower RCA 2 index, companies need to focus on improving service productivity in the sectors under review.

Key words: Competitiveness, export, import, comparative advantage, cross-border mergers and acquisitions,

Kľúčové slová: Konkurencieschopnosť, export, import, komparatívna výhoda, cezhraničné fúzie a akvizície,

This paper was compiled as a part of the project VEGA N. 1/0031/17 "Cross-border mergers and acquisitions in the context of economic and social determinants in the European area".

JEL: F15, F21, F23

Introduction

Schwab (2006) [1] combines the definition of competitiveness with the concept of productivity. Competitiveness is defined as a set of factors, policies and institutions that determine the level of productivity of the country and also determine the level of prosperity that countries can possess.

According to Bobáková, Hečková (2007) [2], whatever the approaches to the definition of competitiveness, it is certain that the factual content of this term constitutes a different value of the commodity on the foreign market depending on the influence of various factors that determine the country's competitiveness. It is ultimately reflected in economic growth, employment and price policy. The qualitative characteristics of the sources of competitive advantage significantly influence the long-term sustainable growth performance of the economy.

The concept of competitiveness is inherently linked to economic development in a market economy [3]. Bovée, Thill (1992) define competitiveness as the ability of the national industry to innovate and modernize to the next level of technology and productivity. They describe four basic factors of competitiveness [4]:

- strategy, structure and rivalry as conditions for the creation, organization and management of enterprises,

- demand conditions, including market size, exposure to goods, services and ideas,
- related industries,
- factors such as natural resources, levels of education and experience, and wages.

According Ubrežiová (2008) competitiveness of individual countries must be assessed according to the theories, such as [5]:

- Comparative advantage, drafted by David Ricardo based on the theory of absolute advantages, which were drawn up by Adam Smith.
- Heckscher Ohlin theory of production factors.
- The impact of the life cycle of an international product.
- Theory the first on the market.
- Porter's theory of competitive advantage factor conditions, demand factor, composition and strength of competition, job opportunities, responsibilities of government.
- The openness of the economy as a source of increase in labor productivity quick change of enterprises, reduce market prices, changes in prices, economies of scale of production, the impact of new technologies and assessment of the competitiveness of countries.

The increasing volatility and complexity of the business environment forces companies to reduce their vulnerability to adverse change and subsequently increase their competitiveness in the market [6]. Therefore, companies often try to grow, especially by external means, through mergers and acquisitions, as these provide faster changes and effects compared to the possibilities of internal growth. There are many classifications of motives for mergers and acquisitions [7].

Brakman et al. (2013) provides a broad view of mergers and acquisitions. He summarized the reasons for the merger and acquisition activities of companies and their objectives in five groups [8]: (1) exploiting synergies of growth opportunities, (2) managers' interest in acquisitions, (3) risk dissipation, (4) strengthening market power and (5) changes in the business environment. As trading companies are forced to keep up with local and foreign competition, mergers and acquisitions can involve both domestic and foreign trading companies as a form of investment.

If a company decides to place its products on foreign markets, it has a choice between export and local production through foreign direct investment [9]. If a company decides to produce locally, it can build their own equipment, green-field investment or acquire an existing business through cross-border mergers and acquisitions [10]. In order company profited in foreign markets it must have a competitive advantage over local competitors. Otherwise, local businesses would push it out of the market [11].

Data and methodology

In this paper deals with the comparative advantage and its impact on the volume of cross-border mergers and acquisitions in the European area in the reference period 2010-2015. The dataset containing records of mergers and acquisitions in the European area was based on data from the Zephyr database (Bureau van Dijk 2016) [12], which was supplemented with data on exports and imports of individual countries from the statistical offices of the countries under review.

This database includes mergers and acquisitions data from 16 source countries¹ to 25 target countries² in the service sector³.

Index comparative advantages (Revealed Comparative Advantage) also has only RCA is used to determine the most important goals and to determine the target group of products for export countries. The international economy is used to calculate the relative advantages or disadvantages relative particular country in a particular class of goods and services. The comparative advantage is the basic

¹ Belgium, Republic of Cyprus, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Netherlands, Luxembourg, Republic of Malta, Federal Republic of Germany, Republic of Poland, Portuguese Republic, Republic of Austria, Spain, Italy, United Kingdom

² Belgium, Republic of Cyprus, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Netherlands, Luxembourg, Republic of Malta, Federal Republic of Germany, Republic of Poland, Portuguese Republic, Republic of Austria, Spain, Italy, United Kingdom

³ Bank, Hotels & restaurants, Insurance companies, Post & telecommunications, Transport

explanation for economists who follow the development of interpretoral trade. In theoretical models, the comparative advantage is expressed in proportions of relative prices assessed without trading. The RCA is defined as the ratio of two shares. In the numerator is the share of the total export of the target country in the total export of the source country and in the denominator, is the share of the total export of the country's product in the total world export of the product. The RCA value ranges from 0 to \propto [13].

The RCA indicator is a very often used instrument for measuring competitiveness. It is suitable for the evaluation of sectoral and more detailed commodity structures. It can be expressed in two modifications, using the logarithmic function (RCA 1) or through the ratio of differences (RCA 2). The RCA 2 indicator, defined as the ratio of the difference between the export and import of commodity groups and the sum of the export and import of these commodity groups, assesses the comparative advantage of export and its competitiveness [14].

$$RCA\ 2 = \frac{X_{ij} - m_{ij}}{X_{ij} + m_{ij}}$$

While:	X_{ij}	- country export <i>j</i> in commodity group <i>i</i> ,
	m_{ij}	- country import <i>j</i> in commodity group <i>i</i> .

RCA 2 index applies [15]:

RCA= -1	indicates that there is no export $(X_{ij}=0)$,
-1< RCA<0	indicates comparative disadvantages,
RCA=0	export=import ($X_{ij} = m_{ij}$),
0 < RCA<1	indicates revealed comparative advantages,
RCA=1	indicates that the import does not exist $(m_{ii} = 0)$.

The formulation of the result is, of course, dependent on the achieved index value. The existence of a comparative advantage of a country in exports in a given commodity group indicates an RCA indicator value greater than 1. If the index of a given commodity group is less than 1, this is a comparative disadvantage [16]. Indicates that in a given commodity a country exports less than the average for

the reference group.

For an even more detailed identification of the disclosed comparative advantage, Brakman et al. (2006) possible index values into four categories (a-d) determining its size, respectively. intensity [17]:

- a) $0 < RCA \le 1$ no comparative advantage,
- b) $1 < RCA \le 2$ weak comparative advantage,
- c) $2 < RCA \le 4$ moderate comparative advantage,
- d) 4 < RCA a strong comparative advantage.

Analysis and results

Competitiveness of the services sector was measured by the above comparative advantage index (Revealed Comparative Advantage) – RCA 2. 2 RCA index were calculated on the basis of the data on

exports and imports of individual service sectors in the EU, which are shown in Table 1. We monitored the competitiveness of the service sector over the period 2010-2015.

Sector	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Transport	<u>0,0414867</u>	<u>0,16655542</u>	-0,1968850	-0,0180444	-0,0076918	-0,0219107
Hotels & restaurants	<u>0,03811030</u>	<u>0,08194167</u>	-0,4511398	<u>0,00217901</u>	<u>0,13963987</u>	<u>0,45843163</u>
Post & telecommunications	<u>0,09954575</u>	<u>0,16436527</u>	<u>0,01861338</u>	-0,1715388	<u>0,15527117</u>	<u>0,13144266</u>
Insurance companies	<u>0,49184812</u>	-0,0125626	<u>0,09313619</u>	0,48540880	0,10501537	-0,0033965
Bank	<u>0,5475595</u>	-0,2632963	-0,7712812	<u>0,1291296</u>	<u>0,52377523</u>	-0,6234224

Table1: Competitiveness of the sector overseeing the services evaluated by a factor RCA 2

(Source: own processing)

Based on the results achieved, we can conclude that in 2015 the sector hotel & restaurants and post & telecommunications sector achieved positive RCA 2 values, thus showing a comparative advantage in exports. Sector post & telecommunications showed a comparative disadvantage in only one year (2013). We can say that the sector plays a key role for companies in the EU in terms of employment. Digitization and the development of electronic commerce positively influenced the development of the sector, which from 2013 to 2015 recorded a 13% increase. From the calculated index value 2 RCA shows that in the sector of post and telecommunications exports of EU countries is higher than the import of EU countries for the period. The exception is 2013, when the import of countries was greater than the export. Sector services in the EU creates favorable conditions for mergers and acquisitions. Companies that want to merge with other companies within the EU, seeking commercial companies in those sectors that are competitive in the market.

Trading companies in the EU are increasingly integrated into global value chains. An important driver of competitiveness of countries can be considered to maximize the proportion of home countries provided services for export. Hotels & restaurants can be included in tourism. The EU tourism sector accounts for around EUR 1.8 million. businesses that generate more than 5% of EU GDP and employ around 5.2% of the total workforce (around 9.7 million jobs). The main objectives of the EU are to keep Europe among the most popular tourist destinations by promoting diversification and quality improvement. In 2015, insurance companies and banks in the EU countries experienced a comparative disadvantage. The essence of the theory of comparative advantages is the recognition that EU countries can improve their living standards and real income just by specialize in manufacturing and services, which are able to produce and provide the highest productivity and the lowest cost. It is with such products and services that are more favorable for it to import at home to produce and deliver.

Discussion

From the Revealed Comparative Advantage (RCA 2) calculations, you can conclude that the EU service sector is competitive in two sectors (hotels & restaurants, post & telecommunications), which have a positive impact on countries' economic growth and period, the value was higher for export than for country import. Insurance companies and banks in 2015 were characterized by a comparative disadvantage. Competitiveness in the financial sector can be achieved by merging companies in EU countries (as one form of cross-border M&A). Due to the stagnation in the EU in 2015, companies were motivated to consider external growth in services and products provided through mergers and acquisitions, including investments in non-EU countries. 46% of acquisitions made by European companies in 2015 were motivated by geographical diversification and acceleration of growth outside the European continent. For countries in the EU are attractive mainly the United States, where European companies have announced 657 acquisitions worth more than 200 billion. USD. In America, strong German companies invest heavily: Bayer Purchased Merck's Over-the-Counter Medication Division for

\$ 14.2 Billion ZF Friedrichshafen acquires automotive electronics manufacturer TRW Automotive for \$ 13 billion. USD, Siemens invests 7.7 bn. USD to buy Dresser-Rand and SAP 7.3 billion. into the acquisition of Concur [18].

Conclusion

In today's global world, it is becoming increasingly difficult to establish and maintain on national markets. Globalization is increasing capital mobility and global trade. Continual growth of competition, increasing demands or changes in legislative conditions cause the departure of weak, less competitive companies. It is therefore necessary to address the issue of competitiveness. Based on the results obtained from the comparative advantage calculations under the RCA 2 index, we can conclude that in 2015 the hotel & restaurants and post & telecommunications sector achieved positive RCA 2 values, thus showing a comparative advantage in exports. It means that the services sector creates favorable conditions for mergers and acquisitions in the EU. In 2015, insurance companies and banks in the EU countries experienced a comparative disadvantage. It is important for these sectors to increase the comparative advantage in the form of mergers and acquisitions.

Záver

V súčasnom globálnom svete je čoraz náročnejšie presadiť sa a udržať na národných trhoch. V dôsledku globalizácie sa zvyšuje mobilita kapitálu a obchodovanie v celosvetovom meradle. Neustály nárast konkurencie, zvyšujúce sa nároky či zmeny legislatívnych podmienok zapríčiňujú odchod slabých, menej konkurencieschopných obchodných spoločností. Z uvedeného dôvodu je nevyhnutné zaoberať sa problematikou konkurencieschopnosti.

Na základe výsledkov získaných z výpočtov komparatívnej výhody podľa indexu RCA 2 môžeme konštatovať, že v roku 2015 sektor hotel a reštaurácie a pošta a telekomunikácie dosiahli kladné hodnoty indexu RCA 2, čím vykázali komparatívnu výhodu pri exporte. Znamená to, že sektor služieb vytvára priaznivé podmienky pre fúzie a akvizície v krajinách EÚ. Sektory poisťovacie spoločnosti a bankovníctvo v krajinách EÚ zaznamenali v roku 2015 komparatívnu nevýhodu. Pre tieto sektory je dôležité zvýšiť komparatívnu výhodu formou fúzií a akvizícií.

References

- SCHWAB,K.: The Global Competitiveness Report 2005-2006. [online] 2005- 2006. [cit. 2019-02-10]
 Dostupné na internete: http://www.weforum.org/ site/homepublic.usf/
 Conent/Global+Competitiveness +Program%5CGlobal+Competitiveness+Report.Palgrave
- [2] BOBÁKOVÁ, V., HEČKOVÁ, J. Analýza konkurencieschopnosti slovenského spracovateľského priemyslu. In politická ekonomie: teorie, modelovaní, aplikace. 2007, vol. 55, pp. 490-493, ISSN 0032-3233
- [3] VITURKA, M. et al. Kvalita podnikatelského prostředí, regionální konkurenceschopnost a strategie regionálního rozvoje České republiky. 1. vyd. Praha : Grada, 2010, pp.232. ISBN 978-80-247-3638-9.
- [4] BOVÉE, C. L., THILL, J. V. Marketing. Vyd. b.m., Bonnie K. Binkert and Bob Greiner, 1992, s. 661, ISBN 0-07-006734-1
- [5] UBREŽIOVÁ, I. Medzinárodný manažment a podnikanie. Nitra: SPU 2008, pp.13. ISBN 978-80-552-0069-9
- [6] OVTCHINNIKOV, A., V. Merger waves following industry deregulation. In *Journal of Corporate Finance*. 2013, vol. 21(1), pp. 51-76.
- [7] CARTWRIGHT, S., SCHOENBERG, C. L. The impact of mergers and acquisitions on people at work: Existing research and issues. In *British Journal of Management*. 2006, vol. 1, pp. 65 76.
- [8] BRAKMAN, S., GARRETSEN, H., VAN MARREWIJK, C., VAN WITTELOOSTUIJN, A. Cross-border merger and acquisition activity and revealed comparative advantage in manufacturing industries. In *Journal of Economics and Management Strategy*. 2013, vol. 22, pp. 28–57.

- [9] EREL, I., LIAO, R.C., AND WEISBACH, M. S. Determinants of cross-border mergers and acquisitions. In *Journal of Finance*. 2012, vol. 67(3), pp. 1045–1082.
- [10] NOCKE, V., YEAPLE, S. Cross-border mergers and acquisitions vs. Greenfield foreign direct investment: the role of firm Heterogeneity. In *Journal of International Economics*. 2007, vol. 72(2), pp. 336–365.
- [11] FOCARELLI, D., POZZOLO, A. F. The patterns of cross-border bank mergers and shareholdings in OECD countries. In *Journal of Banking & Finance*. 2012, vol. 25(12), pp. 2305–2337.
- [12] BUREAU VAN DIJK. Zephyr (purchased data from the Zephyr database for the period 1998-2015), 2016. Available at: <u>http://www.bvdinfo.com/en-gb/our-products/economic-and-m-a/m-adata/zephyr</u>
- [13] OBADI, S. M. Integračné zoskupenie juhovýchodnej Ázie a zahraničnoobchodné vzťahy so Slovenskom a s Európskom Úniou. (2004). Available at: <u>http://ekonom.sav.sk</u> / uploads/journals/Obadi001.pdf
- [14] BALASSA, B. Trade Liberalisation and Revealed Comparative Advantage. Manchester : *Manchester School of Economics and Social Studies*, 1965, pp. 90–124.
- [15] DAŇKOVÁ, A., BOSÁKOVÁ, Z. Konkurencieschopnosť vybraných výrobných odborov slovenského potravinárskeho priemyslu. In: *Ekonomický časopis*. 2005, vol. 53(4). ISSN 0013-3035.
- [16] OBADI,S. M. et al. Vývoj a perspektívy svetovej ekonomiky. Bratislava: Veda, 2013. ISBN 978-80-224-1311-4
- [17] BRAKMAN, S. et al. Nations and Firms in the Global Economy : An Introduction to International Economics and Business. New York : *Cambridge university press*, 2006, pp. 446. ISBN 0521832985.
- [18] Europe M&A Regional Report (Thomson Reuters a Merrill Datasite), Monthly M&A Insider November 2014 (Merrill Datasite). Available at: <u>https://get.pitchbook.com/mergers-and-acquisitions-data/?utm_source</u> =google&utm_medium=cpc&utm_campaign=EG-MandA-US&utm_term =%2Bm%26a& bt= 33802 7774110&_bm=p&_bn=g&gclid=CjwKCAjwxOvsBRAjEiwAuY7L8mkSk9WUWe9DE1s07cfL FcbcwmT20G-9tSBW9ja-ChNVQ6oNYRhxWRoC 94QAvD BwE

Address:

doc. Ing. Jaroslava Hečková, PhD.

Department of Economics and Economy Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínová 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: jaroslava.heckova@unipo.sk

doc. Ing. Alexandra Chapčáková, PhD.

Department of Economics and Economy Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínová 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: alexandra.chapcakova@unipo.sk

Mgr. Stela Marková

Department of Economics and Economy Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínová 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: stela.markova@smail.unipo.sk

WHY TOURISM: ANALYSIS THE TRAVELING WITH PURPOSE IN THE EUROPEAN CONTEXT

PREČO TURIZMUS: ANALÝZA CESTOVANIA S ÚČELOM V EURÓPSKOM KONTEXTE

Abstract: Tourism is a phenomenon whose development depends on many factors. One of the factors reflects the ability to answer the question: Why for traveling? Many reasons can influence the decision for traveling. The specific area might fulfill the tourists' demand. The article analyzes especially various purposes for traveling in the European space. Of the purposes, it stresses personal, professional, business, visits to friends and relatives and, with a trend line, for traveling for holidays, leisure and recreation reasons.

Keywords: tourism, traveling with purpose, European context, analysis

Kľúčové slová: turizmus, cestovanie s účelom, Európsky context, analýza

This article is one of the outputs from the research grant VEGA No: 1/0470/18.

JEL: I 11, I 19

Introduction

Tourism as international trade in services become an important activity in global market [5]. From this point of view tourism is defined as the sum of those industrial and commercial activities which produce goods and services which are mainly consumed with countries to develop tourism sector for foreign visitors or domestic tourists [2]. Tourism as industry is connected also with marketing level [12] as well as the social context. Economy, that is represented with Gross domestic Product (GDP), is a strong aspect that can influence the tourism level in country [11], although on the other hand, sometimes so-called exotic surrounding might have a promising taste of adventure. However, hospitality services [10] play an important role in decision of every tourist. Gender aspect [9] might play a role in some countries such as for instance in Latin Amerika.

Determinants for tourism flow from European countries lie mostly in the construction of transport infrastructure in cooperation with the neighboring countries. In this context also main quality criteria for the passenger transport by railway might be specified [6]: safety, reliability, time keeping, interoperability, comfort, optimal tour, ecology, informative and reach. Gravity model [13] that is used is built especially on setting the coefficients for: language knowledge or similarity, visa necessity, consumer price index, nominal exchange rate, distance, etc. Another problem is ability of intensive recovery of infrastructure in the areas where some economic problem, damage or disaster occur [4].

Presumptions that influence development of tourism are mainly demographic factors, transportation as well as the travel security, political factors, information technology, environmental factors, degree of urbanization [1] and a range of social and economic impacts [14].

Food marketing [8] as accompanying part of tourism means integral part of material (food) and immaterial (services) products. So, tourists as guests should be satisfied quantitively as well as qualitatively, gastronomically, ethnologically, esthetically, etc. The similar issues are connected in connection with passengers' shopping intentions in the hotels or at the airports [7], when the shopping process can be transformed into experience. The quantitative and partly qualitative conditions for adequate food included into tourism services are influenced with private as well as government investment into agriculture and rural development [3].

Methodology

To analyze tourism from the view point of reason why a person make decision to visit some place that is distant from his home, purpose was analyze as a motivation for individual tourism. The analysis is based especially on the data according to Eurostat (https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu) [Observed: October 10, 2019]. This way aiming to European context, the data for domestic trips with duration 4 nights or over were analyzed. In this context we can recognize a few categories according to reasons:

- personal,
- professional, business,
- visits to friends and relatives,
- traveling for holidays, leisure and recreation.

Results and Discussion

Analysis the traveling with purpose uses especially the graphical methods as well as the statistical method for the curve fitting. Figure 1 comprises graphic representation of domestic trips with purpose with duration 4 nights or over in chosen European countries.



Figure 1. Graphic representation of domestic trips with purpose with duration 4 nights or over. The analyzed data are according to Eurostat (https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu) [Observed: October 10, 2019].

Figure 2 illustrates the number of domestic trips with purpose with duration 4 nights or over in countries, which are neighboring to Slovakia and are members of European Union.



Figure 2. Graphic representation of domestic trips with purpose with duration 4 nights or over in countries, which are neighboring to Slovakia and are members of European Union. The analyzed data are according to Eurostat (https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu) [Observed: October 10, 2019].

To analyze traveling with purpose, wide variety of reasons is included especially into personal ones as well as to traveling for holidays, leisure and recreation. From the position of travel manager, the most important thing is to fulfill the tourists' motivation. The motivation is related to many hobbies, curiosity or desire for experiences or the opportunity to present oneself.

Of the hobbies, for instance sport can represent quite strong motivation. Sport motivation ranges from tendency to visit some sport event to an active practicing. When we cannot influence the organization of some world game event, we can create an environment for the game of holidaymakers. Other possibilities include for instance swimming, skiing, hiking or rafting, special sports grounds, climbing wall and cycling. Likewise, a playground should be a matter of course within the recreational facilities. Another reason might be an opportunity to experience own or another nation or country culture. In this area we can include both the teaching of a foreign language as well as learning about musical and dance specific customs of individual cultures, also with the possibility to learn new dance or play a musical instrument.

Figure 3 expresses the number of domestic trips with purpose with duration 4 nights or over in Slovakia according to the categories; with a trend line for traveling for holidays, leisure and recreation reasons.



Figure 3. Traveling with purpose in Slovakia according to the categories; with a trend line for traveling for holidays, leisure and recreation reasons. The analyzed data are according to Eurostat (https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu) [Observed: October 10, 2019].

Expressing the trend line for traveling for holidays, leisure and recreation reasons according to Figure 3 using the semilogarithmic pattern:

$$y = 9956.5x^{5} - 214395x^{4} + 2E + 06x^{3} - 6E + 06x^{2} + 9E + 06x - 3E + 06$$
 (1)

while x means the year and y determines number of tourists.

The value for coefficient of determination: $R^2 = 0.996$

The tendency is expressed using the polynomial dependency. The value for coefficient of determination has the satisfactory value for the proper expressing the tendency.

Conclusions

Through the analysis we found both a wide range of opportunities as well as reserves for those involved in tourism business. The increase or decrease in the number in the chart can mean not only the financial situation but also the amount, increase or decrease, in recreational opportunities with more or less interesting program. For hoteliers and tourism managers this means, above all, the task not to rely only on providing accommodation for potential clients but also to provide them with a quality program accordance to their interests.

References

- HAE, L., 2017. Traveling Policy: Place Marketing and the Neoliberal Turn of Urban Studies in South Korea. In. Critical Sociology. P. 1-14, ISSN 1569-1632.
- [2] HANAFIAH, M. H. M., HARUN, M. F. M., and JAMALUDDIN, M. R., 2010. Bilateral Trade and Tourism Demand. In. World Applied Sciences Journal. Vol. 10, p. 110-114, ISSN 1818-4952.
- [3] KÖHN, D., (Editor), 2014. Finance for Food. Towards New Agricultural and Rural Finance. London: Springer, ISBN 978-3-642-54033-2.
- [4] KOIKE, A., and MIYAMOTO, Y., 2017. Short run Economic Assessment of the Transportation Recovery Policy After an Earthquake. In. MATEC Web of Conferences. Vol. 103, ISSN 0000-2012.
- [5] KOSNAN, S. S. A., and ISMAIL, N. W., 2012. Demand Factors for International Tourism in Malaysia: 1998-2009. In. Prosiding Perkem. Vol. 7, n. 1, ISSN 2231-962X.
- [6] LINGAITIS, V., and SINKEVIČIUS, G., 2014. Passenger transport by railway: evaluation of economic and social phenomenon. In. Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences. Vol. 110, p. 549-559.
- [7] LU, J.-L., 2014. Investigating factors that influence passengers' shopping intentions at airports Evidence from Taiwan. In. Journal of Air Transport Management. Vol. 35, p. 72-77.
- [8] MELER, M., and CEROVIC', Z., 2003. Food marketing in the function of tourist product development. In. British Food Journal. Vol. 105, n. 3, p. 175-192, ISSN 0007-070X.
- [9] MILLÁN, M., 2015. The traveling of 'gender' and its accompanying baggage: Thoughts on the translation of feminism(s), the globalization of discourses, and representational divides. In. European Journal of Women's Studies. Vol. 23, p. 6-27. ISSN 1350-5068.
- [10] RENUKA, R., 2010. Role of Hospitality Services in Tamil Nadu Tourism. In. IUP Journal of Management Research. Vol. 9, n. 6, p. 57-63. ISSN 0972-5342.
- [11] SANNI, M. R., 2009. The Influence of the Economy on Hospitality Industry in Nigeria. In. Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies and Management. Vol. 2, n.1, p. 29-34. ISSN 1998-0507.
- [12] ŠTEFKO, R., and BUTORACOVÁ ŠINDLERYOVÁ, I., 2009. Analysis of Marketing Principles Application in Relation to the Social Aspects of the Project Management Theory and the Practice. In. Journal of Management and Business: Research and Practice. Vol. 1, n. 1-2, p. 131-140. ISSN 1338-0494.
- [13] VELASQUEZ, M. E. B., and OH, J., 2013. What determines international tourist arrivals to Peru? A gravity approach. In. International Area Studies Review. Vol. 16, n. 4, p. 357-369. ISSN 2233-8659.
- [14] VOŠTA, M., and ABRHÁM, J., 2015. Global Tourism and Implications for the Czech Republic. In. Acta Oeconomica Pragensia. Vol. 2015, n. 4, p. 63-77. ISSN 0572-3043.

This study is one of the outputs from the research grant VEGA 1/0470/18 entitled: "Economic Activity of Tourism in European Space".

Contact

PaedDr. Anna Antonyová, PhD.

Department of Mathematical Methods and Managerial Informatics Faculty of Management University of Prešov Konštantínová 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia e-mail: antonyova@gmail.com

Eva LITAVCOVÁ Petra VAŠANIČOVÁ

ANALYTICAL VIEW ON BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT ATTRIBUTE IN CONTEXT OF TRAVEL AND TOURISM COMPETITIVENESS INDEX

ANALYTICKÝ POHĽAD NA ATRIBÚT PODNIKATEĽSKÉHO PROSTREDIA V KONTEXTE INDEXU KONKURENCIESCHOPNOSTI CESTOVNÉHO RUCHU

Abstract: The Travel and Tourism Competitiveness Index (TTCI) published by World Economic Forum consists of 14 characteristics (pillars) of tourism competitiveness. The aim of this paper is to model pillar Business Environment as a response of 13 other pillars of the TTCI from year 2017. Investigated dataset consists of values of TTCI and its pillars among 136 economies. This article aims to answer the question - how the values of other pillars contribute to the pillar BE - Business Environment. We focus on mentioned relationships of investigated variables with several tools, by using (1) quantile regression on the whole and on the reduced dataset after ordinary least squared stepwise procedure; by using (2) penalized lasso estimates and finally, to compare their results. From the point of view of significance of the coefficients order of variables is different for two methods.

Keywords: The Travel and Tourism Competitiveness Index, Regression quantiles, Lasso estimates.

JEL Classification: C31, L83, Z32

Introduction

The tourism industry is constantly changing, due to the modification of customer values, motives, attitudes, and behaviors, impacting not only businesses but also the country. Therefore, this industry is undergoing essential transformations due to various determinants. Their designation, classification, understanding, and assessment allow plan and make strategic decisions for future development. These transformations can be a key for the tourism industry subjects who are able to develop and innovate this area, to increase travel and tourism competitiveness. One of the widely used indicators of the travel and tourism competitiveness of countries all over the world is Travel and Tourism (T&T) Competitiveness Index. This index provides a comprehensive strategic benchmarking tool and contributes to the development and competitiveness of a country.

In general, many factors impact the tourism sector in a country, what is reflecting in a number of indicators that make up the Travel and Tourism Competitiveness index (TTCI). From a methodological point of view used for the period 2015-2017, the top indicator TTCI consists of four subindexes, which are created by several pillars and these pillars are made by further subpillars. For each country under consideration, the index is given by the overall score. Pillars of Enabling Environment characterise the main settings required for operating in a country. Pillars of T&T Policy and Enabling Conditions characterise particular policies or strategic aspects that affect the T&T industry more directly. Pillars of Infrastructure characterise the availability and quality of physical infrastructure in a country. Finally, pillars of Natural and Cultural Resources identify the main reasons or motives to travel [6]. The question is how the individual indicators influence Business environment. This would require extensive analysis, but we will only focus on one part. We are interested in a question, how do the values of other pillars

contribute to Business Environment? We aim to answer this question by using quantile regression and penalized lasso estimates.

When deciding on the choice of destination when travelling abroad, comparing the individual destinations plays an important role [21]. To examine overall tourism competitiveness has a rapidly growing importance in the ever-evolving tourism industry. Crotti and Misrahi [5], [6] determined factors that influence travel and tourism competitiveness using mentioned TTCI. In 2017, the index was divided into 4 subindexes, which were made up by 14 pillars (in total), and 90 individual indicators. A composition of TTCI in 2017 presents next list:

- Subindex I. Enabling Environment, 5 pillars:
 - Business Environment (BE),
 - Safety and Security (SS),
 - Health and Hygiene (HH),
 - Human Resources and Labour Market (HRL),
 - ICT Readiness (ICT),
- Subindex II. T&T Policy and Enabling Conditions, 4 pillars:
 - Prioritization of Travel and Tourism (*TT*),
 - International Openness (IO),
 - Price Competitiveness (PC),
 - Environmental Sustainability (ES),
- Subindex III. Infrastructure, 3 pillars:
 - Air Transport Infrastructure (ATI),
 - Ground and Port Infrastructure (GPI),
 - Tourist Service Infrastructure (TSI),
- Subindex IV. Natural and Cultural Resources, 2 pillars:
 - Natural Resources (*NR*),
 - Cultural Resources and Business Travel (CRBT).

Business Environment (BE) is the first pillar of the first subindex of TTCI – Enabling Environment that is directly linked to the economic growth of a country. BE is composed of 12 subpillars, namely Property rights, Business impact of rules on FDI, Efficiency of legal frameworks in settings disputes / in challenging regs. Time required / Cost to deal with constructions permits. Extent of market dominance. Time / Cost to start a business, Effect of taxation on incentives to work / invest, Total tax rate. This pillar captures the extent to which a country has a supportive policy environment for businesses. Focusing on this pillar is important, because, nowadays, a rapid pace of change causes, among other things, changes in the business environment. Knowing and understanding the business environment is crucial to the conception, development, and maintenance of a successful management strategy. Successful tourism strategies will require that policy-makers not only understand previous and current tendencies and changes in the business environment but will require the ability to prognosticate novel principal emerging developments and transformations [24]. It is necessary for tourism stakeholders, especially government and business managers, to identify factors determining their country's business environment in order to appropriately coordinate available resources, make decisions, design management strategies and thus create value for tourists. Jin, Weber [13] pointed out that one of the major factors of tourism competitiveness for event organizers are general business environment. Others are economic status, market demand, international standing, accessibility in terms of travel time, convenience and costs, leisure environment, and government support [23]. To better know the business environment, a more comprehensive approach is required.

In this paper, we investigate, how do the values of other pillars contribute to Business Environment pillar? The aim is to examine relations of *BE* with other pillars, which importance is various. At the beginning, we describe the importance of the other pillars that make up the index. First subindex, Enabling Environment, consists of five pillars. *SS* is an essential pillar because tourists usually do not like to travel to dangerous countries and regions. Pillar consists of indicators connected with the "costliness of common crime and violence as well as terrorism, and the extent to which police services can be relied upon to provide protection from crime" [5, p. 6]. Also healthy environments and safe

landscapes, in terms of health and hygiene, can make a significant contribution to increasing the visitor arrivals into the destination [31, p. 284]. *HH* is measured by indicators such as the availability of physicians and hospital beds, prevalence of malaria and HIV. Also low readiness of human resources is barrier to the tourism industry development [30]. Within *HRL* are evaluated factors connected with qualifications of the labour force, and indicators taking into account hiring and firing practices, ease to finding skilled employees, ease to hiring foreign labour, pay and productivity, and female labour force participation. Many authors point out the importance of the Internet in the development of various industries. Accelerating progress in technology related to the Internet has led to progressive changes [28]. Nowadays, there is a growing number of booking travel and accommodation via the Internet, or searching places on the map using mobile applications. Therefore, *ICT* readiness of the country is also a very important pillar describing the competitiveness of the destination.

Government and policy makers also play an important role in the country's travel and tourism competitiveness. They can channel funds to the appropriate areas and thus improve development of tourism sector. Moreover, stability of government policy can attract new investors. All indicators about prioritization of T&T are part of sixth - *TT* pillar of TTCI. Country openness in terms of travel, visa conditions and other restrictive policies are part of the seventh pillar - *IO*. Pricing issue in market conditions is also the specific issue [2] of tourism - pillar *PC*. Specifically, ticket taxes, airport charges, hotel price index, purchasing power parity and fuel price levels determine price competitiveness of tourism industry. Many researches are currently looking at the issue of environmental sustainability in relation to tourism. Consequently, the TTCI designers could not forget the *ES* pillar. It is composed of even ten subpillars connected with stringency and enforcement of environmental regulations, sustainability of T&T development, and indicators assessing the status of water, forest resources and seabeds, proxied by coastal shelf fishing pressure. All of mentioned four pillars belong to second subindex T&T Policy and Enabling Conditions.

Another three pillars connect with infrastructure and compose third subpillar with the same name. "Air transport is an indispensable element of tourism, providing the fastest link between the tourist population and their destinations "[8, p. 52]. The availability of efficient and accessible transport to key business centers and tourist attractions requires a sufficiently extensive road, railroad network, as well as port infrastructure that should meet international standards of comfort, safety, security and transport efficiency [5]. The air infrastructure and ground and port infrastructure is evaluated separately within tenth *ATI* and eleventh *GPI* pillar. Moreover, tourist service infrastructure *TSI* belongs to third subindex. It is about availability of accommodation, resorts and entertainment facilities with appropriate quality and standards.

Unique and distinct natural environment provide resources for tourism development. Subpillars of *NR* also contributes to tourism competitiveness and these include number of World Heritage natural sites, total known species, total protected areas, or quality of the natural environment. Finally, culture is one of the most significant tourist's motivators in choosing a given destination [4], [26]. A sufficient number of cultural resources, attractiveness or sites including into UNESCO cultural World Heritage sites of the country, therefore, increase its tourism competitiveness, and thus the *CRB* pillar is one of the very important components of the TTCI. This pillar also includes business travel that is measured by international association meetings taking place in a country. These two pillars are a part of last subindex - Natural and Cultural Resources.

Material and Methods

Investigated dataset consists of values of Travel and Tourism Competitiveness Index (TTCI) and its pillars among 136 economies from 2017. The question is how the values of other pillars contribute to the pillar BE - Business Environment. This article aims to answer this question by using quantile regression and penalized lasso estimates.

The effect of a change in the Business Environment pillar of the country among 136 countries depending on other 13 pillars contributing to TTCI would be tested by using simple ordinary least squares method, which describes conditional mean of response variable as a linear function of the explanatory variable. The response and all the regressors are continuous variable without missing values. However, 1-2 outliers occur in 8 variables and in one up to 10. And moreover, the collinearity diagnostics confirm that there are serious problems with multicollinearity. Several eigenvalues are close to 0, indicating that the predictors are highly intercorrelated and that small changes in the data values may lead to large changes in the estimates of the coefficients. The condition indices are computed as the square roots of the ratios of the largest eigenvalue of $X^T X$ to each successive eigenvalue. Six of these indices are larger than 30 (from 31.2 to 78.9), suggesting a serious problem with collinearity [12], [25]. Thus, other methods should be used (see [15], [14]). Kalina et al. [16] used on similar data from the previous period (TTCI 2015) quantile regression and their lasso estimates. In this study, we focus on mentioned relationships of investigated variables with similar tools, by using (1) quantile regression and by using (2) lasso estimates.

For the first, according to Agresti [1], quantile regression models quantiles of a response variable as a function of explanatory variables. This method can be less severely affected by outliers than ordinary least squares. However, when the normal linear model truly holds, the least squares estimators are much more efficient. The OLS model estimates constant effects of the independent variables on the conditional mean of the dependent variable and assumes a normal distribution of errors with constant variance. Ouantile regression models were initially proposed by Koenker and Bassett [17] as a method of robust regression that would account for a non-normal distribution of error terms and as a test for heteroskedastic error terms (see more in Koenker [19] and [20]). The quantile reression is widely used in various fields of study, for example in [3], [7]. At the heart of the optimization problem is the minimization of asymmetrically weighted absolute residuals. By asymmetrically weighted residuals, they mean assigning different weights to positive and negative residuals [3]. This results in the minimization equation for conditional quantiles

 $\min_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \rho_{\tau}(y_i - \xi(x, \beta)),$ where $\rho(.)$ is the absolute value function that gives the τ -th sample quantile, y_i is the observed value of the dependent variable, and $\xi(x,\beta)$ is the predicted value in the form of parametric function. (More in [17], [18], [19] and [20]).

For the second, the lasso is a popular method for regression that uses an l_1 penalty to achieve a sparse solution. Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso was proposed by Tibshirani in 1996. As states in his work [29], the lasso minimizes the residual sum of squares subject to the sum of the absolute value of the coefficients being less than a constant. It produces interpretable models like subset selection and exhibits the stability of ridge regression. The lasso does not focus on subsets but rather defines continuous shrinking operation that can produce coefficients that are exactly 0. For standardized predictor variables x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n (assumed independent *n* observations for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$) the lasso estimate is defined by

$$(\hat{\beta}_0, \hat{\beta}) = \operatorname{argmin}\left\{\sum_{i=1}^n \left(y_i - \beta_0 - \sum_j \beta_j x_{ij}\right)^2\right\} \quad subject \ to \ \sum_j |\beta_j| \le t$$

where $\hat{\beta} = (\hat{\beta}_1, \hat{\beta}_2, \dots, \hat{\beta}_p)^T$. For all *t*, the solution for β is $\hat{\beta}_0 = \bar{y}$. Here $t \ge 0$ is a tuning parameter which controls the amount of shrinkage that is applied to the estimates. The prediction error (mean square error of an estimate \hat{Y} plus variance of residuals) is estimated over a grid of values of s (s is normalized lasso parameter $s = t/\sum |\hat{\beta}_j^0|$, where $\hat{\beta}_j^0$ are the full least squares estimates) from 0 to 1 inclusive. The value \hat{s} yielding the lowest prediction error is selected. Cross-validation and other two methods are employed for the estimation of the lasso parameter t (more in [29]).

Moreover, in 2008 [9] was proposed fast algorithms for fitting generalized linear models with elasticnet penalties. Elastic net penalty is a mixture of the l_1 (lasso) and l_2 (ridge regression) penalties [27]. The algorithm for the elastic net includes the lasso and ridge regression as special cases ([10], [11]). The elastic net solves the following problem (from [9], more general see in [11])

$$\min_{(\beta_0,\beta)\in R^{p+1}} \left[\frac{1}{2n} \sum_{i=1}^n (y_i - \beta_0 - x_i^T \beta)^2 + \lambda \sum_{j=1}^p \left[\frac{1}{2} (1 - \alpha) \beta_j^2 + \alpha |\beta_j| \right] \right]$$

over a grid of values of λ covering the entire range. The tuning (regularization) parameter λ controls the overall strength of the penalty. The second sum in previous formula is the *elastic-net penalty*. For $\alpha=0$ it is the ridge regression, and for $\alpha = 1$ the lasso penalty. The elastic net with $\alpha = 1 - \varepsilon$ for some small $\varepsilon > 0$ performs much like the lasso, but removes any degeneracies and wild behavior caused by extreme correlations [9].

Results and Discussion

Table 1 shows the coefficients of the Business Environment *BE* as dependent variable, which were estimated at the 15^{th} , 20^{th} , 25th, 30^{th} , 40^{th} , 50th, 60^{th} , 70^{th} , 75^{th} , 80^{th} and 85^{th} quantile levels using multiple quantile regression on the 13 pillars contributing to Travel and Tourism Competitiveness Index. The tests of significance were based on the robust bootstrap estimations of standard errors [18]. There can be seen in detail the relationship of each selected quantiles of the dependent variable on the chosen variables. Three out of four covariates having no significant coefficient were omitted from the table (*IO*, *ES*, and *TSI*).

Table 1 Estimated coefficients of Business Environment as dependent variable - a results of multiple quantile regression; "a", "b", "c", "d" denotes 10%, 5%, 1%, and 0.1% significance level.

tau	SS HH	HRL	ICT	TT	РС	ATI	GPI	NR	CRBT
0,15	0.025 -0.426°	0.659 ^b	0.351	0.094	0.228	0.110	0.120	-0.140	-0.058
0,20	$0.046 - 0.407^{d}$	0.496 ^b	0.351 ^b	0.064	0.219 ^a	0.141	0.093	-0.138	-0.064
0,25	$0.069 - 0.390^{d}$	0.513 ^b	0.314 ^b	0.043	0.223 ^b	0.132	0.114	-0.105	-0.087
0,30	0.021 -0.358 ^d	0.471 ^b	0.327 ^b	0.086	0.208 ^a	0.145	0.109	-0.115	-0.091 ^a
0,40	0.014 -0.300°	0.377 ^b	0.296 ^b	0.112	0.143	0.145	0.165 ^a	-0.071	-0.080
0,50	0.037 -0.189 ^b	0.351 ^b	0.241 ^b	0.162 ^b	0.003	0.230°	0.137 ^a	-0.049	-0.128 ^b
0,60	0.051 -0.231 ^d	0.383°	0.222 ^b	0.138 ^b	0.031	0.246°	0.093	-0.067	-0.111ª
0,70	0.096 -0.199°	0.385°	0.193 ^b	0.061	0.074	0.112	0.147 ^b	-0.054	-0.056
0,75	0.095 -0.181°	0.431 ^d	0.154	0.066	0.047	0.111	0.152 ^b	-0.042	-0.065
0,80	0.077 -0.196°	0.423°	0.239 ^b	0.064	0.026	0.085	0.166 ^b	-0.018	-0.074
0,85	0.070 -0.191°	0.499°	0.234	0.004	0.032	0.100	0.167 ^a	-0.039	-0.088
OLS	0.044 -0.269 ^d	0.515 ^d	0.219°	0.115 ^b	0.090	0.168°	0.136 ^b	-0.111 ^b	-0.073 ^b

Note: the abbreviations at the top of the table are explained on page 2 Source: own calculation in R

Bolded variables in the Table 1 - HH, HRL, ICT and GPI have more than 50% of coefficients significant. The quantile regression effect of HH reveals a pattern of increasing effect of coefficients, but it is never statistically different from the value of the OLS coefficient. After exhibiting a nearly linear increase in value through the median, the value of the quantile regression coefficient are almost constant on the upper bound of the OLS estimate. An interesting phenomenon is seen taking into account regressor NR, at which no significance at any quantile level has been demonstrated despite significant OLS coefficient. Regressor PC, which was not significant in OLS, has significant coefficients at low quantile levels for tau from 0.15 to 0.35, while has not at upper quantile levels. For the variables TT, ATI, GPI, and CRBT, the wavy shape of the coefficients depending on quantile level signify their significance only at certain intervals of quantile levels. Our results show that a negative relationship between BE and HH is more and more weaker with increasing quantile level. Similarly, but very softly, it is within a positive relationship between BE and ICT, PC and ATI. However, taking into account PC and ATI on higher quantile levels, we can see no significant relationship with BE. NR coefficients are significantly different from 0 only in a narrow interval around the quantile level 0.25. GPI coefficients are not significantly different from 0 in interval circa from 0.45 to 0.7. CRBT coefficients are significantly different from 0 up to quantile level around 0.8.



Figure 1 Lasso - the cross-validated error rates

Source: own calculation in R

When considering the lasso estimates for our variables which are there standardized, Figure 1 plots of the cross-validated error rates. Each dot represents a λ value along our path, with error bars to give a confidence interval for the cross-validated error rate. The left vertical bar indicates the minimum error (denoted lambda.min) while the right shows the largest value of λ such that the error is within one standard deviation of the minimum (denoted lambda.1se). The top of the plot gives the size of each model [9]. If right vertical bar will be considered, 9 regressors stay in the final model. It is clear from the Figure 2, which variables there are (from 13 variables).



Figure 2 Lasso estimates of regression parameters for all 13 regressors; coefficients are numbered as follows: 1-SS, 2-HH, 3-HRL, 4-ICT, 5-TT, 6-IO, 7-PC, 8-ES, 9-ATI, 10-GPI, 11-TSI, 12-NR, 13-CRB. Source: own calculation in R

Figure 2 shows the estimates of 13 regressors for LS-lasso. According to [11], each curve in Figure 2 corresponds to a variable. It shows the path of its coefficient against the $Log \lambda$ of the whole coefficient vector at as tuning parameter λ varies. The axis above indicates the number of nonzero coefficients at the current λ which is the effective degrees of freedom (df) for the lasso [11].

When using LS-lasso regression on standardized and strong correlated variables, it is possible to see some deviation from the output of quantile regressions performed on both the original and reduced regression sets. The value of lambda.min, e.g. lambda that gives minimum mean cross-validated error was obtained in 0.00205 with df=13, thus all of 13 variables are taking into the model. If we took into account lambda.1se, the largest value of lambda such that error is within 1 standard error of the minimum, λ =0.04846, the 9 regressors stay. If the comparable lasso coefficients of the standardized predictors for lambda.1se are ranked according to size in descending order, their rakining is as follows: *HRL*, *HH*, *ATI*, *GPI*, *ICT*, *NR*, *SS*, *CRBT*, *TT*, *PC*-near zero, and for *IO*, *ES*, *TSI* are zeros.



Figure 3 Quantile regression process for Business Environment with 8 regressors Source: own calculation in R

For OLS regression with all 13 regressors for dependent *BE* was used stepwise procedure that eliminated 5 variables: *SS*, *TT*, *IO*, *ES*, and *TSI*. Result of quantile regression using 8 remaining regressors is presented in Figure 3. It is a compact way of presenting information on the OLS and the quantile regression coefficients with a series of effects displays in. In each panel, the value of the OLS coefficient is represented by a solid line, the values representing a 95% confidence interval around the OLS coefficient are represented with dashed lines. The quantile regression coefficients are represented by the black dots, and a 95% confidence band around the quantile regression coefficient estimates is represented by the gray band. By comparing Table 1 and Figure 3 it is possible to find out that the pattern of development of quantile coefficient in Figure 3 is very similar to Table 1, taking into account 8 selected regressors. For regressors *PC*, *ATI*, *GPI*, *NR*, and *CRBT* we can see (in contrary to the result presented in the Table 1) more extensive sections of quantile levels, in which the corresponding coefficient is significantly different from 0.

Summary

The tourism industry is considered to be a complex system of relationships [22]. Unleashing new growth potential of industry within a given country requires enhance its competitiveness [16]. Therefore, our goal was to reveal how the values of other 13 pillars concerning competitiveness in tourism contribute to the pillar *Business Environment*. For the first, standard OLS and quantile regression for all 13 regressors on the *Business environment* as dependent variable was used. Second, the lasso estimates was performed. Third, on set of regressors after elimination by stepwise OLS procedure quantile regression was used.

Approximately ranked regressors according strength and quantity of their significancy at various quantile levels by using first procedure - quantile regression on all data set, are: *HH*, *HRL*, *ICT*, *GPI*, *ATI*, *CRBT*, *TT*, *PC*, *NR* and four no significant *SS*, *IO*, *ES* and *TSI*.

Taking into account second method - lasso estimates, if the comparable lasso coefficients of the standardized predictors for lambda.1se are ranked according to size in descending order, their rakining is as follows: *HRL*, *HH*, *ATI*, *GPI*, *ICT*, *NR*, *SS*, *CRBT*, *TT*, *PC*-near zero, and for *IO*, *ES*, *TSI* are zeros.

For OLS regression with all 13 regressors, for dependent *BE*, stepwise procedure was used that eliminated 5 variables: *SS*, *TT*, *IO*, *ES*, and *TSI*. Reused quantile regression on a set of reduced variables after this stepwise procedure leads to approximate ranking of remaining regressors: *HH*, *HRLM*, *ICT*, *CRBT*, *GPI*, *ATI*, *PC* and *NR*.

When using LS-lasso regression these are different from the selection of OLS stepwise. By using LS-lasso, we have variables SS and TT, and to the contrary, in the result we miss PC variable. In the next step it is needed to use RQ-lasso, as in [16], and continue experimenting with the elastic net.

In-depth statistical analysis of variables for each area, also for tourism, the results can helps policy makers set parameters to achieve increased competitiveness.

Acknowledgements

This paper was compiled as a part of the project VEGA No. 1/0470/18 "Economic activity of tourism in the European area", and GAPU 43/2019 "Cultural differences and their impact on tourism". This work was supported by the Slovak Research and Development Agency under the contract no. APVV-17-0166.

References

- [1] AGRESTI, A., 2015. *Foundations of Linear and Generalized Linear Models*. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- [2] BAČÍK, R., ŠTEFKO, R. and GBUROVÁ, J., 2014. Marketing pricing strategy as part of competitive advantage retailers. *Journal of applied economic sciences*, 9(4), 30, 602–607.
- [3] BRITT, C. L., 2009. Modeling the distribution of sentence length decisions under a guidelines system: An application of quantile regression models. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 25(4), 341–370.
- [4] CORREIA, A., KOZAK, M. and FERRADEIRA, J., 2013. From tourist motivations to tourist satisfaction. *International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 7(4), 411–424.
- [5] CROTTI, R. and MISRAHI, T., 2015. *The Travel & Tourism Competitiveness Report 2015: Growth through Shocks*. Geneva: The World Economic Forum.
- [6] CROTTI, R. and MISRAHI, T., 2017. *The Travel & Tourism Competitiveness Report 2017: Paving the way for a more sustainable and inclusive future*. Geneva: The World Economic Forum.
- [7] FENSKE, N., 2012. Structured additive quantile regression with applications to modelling undernutrition and obesity of children. Dissertation thesis. Munchen.
- [8] FERNÁNDEZ, X. L., COTO-MILLÁN, P. and DÍAZ-MEDINA, B., 2018. The impact of tourism on airport efficiency: The Spanish case. *Utilities Policy*, 55, 52–58.
- [9] FRIEDMAN, J., HASTIE, T. and TIBSHIRANI, R., 2008. Regularization Paths for Generalized Linear Models via Coordinate Descent, https://web.stanford.edu/~hastie/Papers/glmnet.pdf. *Journal of Statistical Software*, Vol. 33(1), 1-22, http://www.jstatsoft.org/v33/i01/
- [10] FRIEDMAN, J., HASTIE, T., TIBSHIRANI, R., SIMON, N., NARASIMHAN, B. and QIAN, J., 2018. Package 'glmnet', April 2, 2018. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/glmnet/glmnet.pdf
- [11] HASTIE, T. and QIAN, J., 2016. Glmnet Vignette. https://cran.project.org/web/packages/glmnet/vignettes/glmnet_beta.pdf
- [12] IBM SPSS help pages. .../help/index.jsp?topic=/com.ibm.spss.statistics.cs/casestudies intro.htm
- [13] JIN, X. and WEBER, K. , 2016. Exhibition destination attractiveness-organizers' and visitors' perspectives. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 28(12), 2795–2819.
- [14] JURCZYK, T., 2012. Outlier Detection under Multicollinearity. Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation, 82 (2), 261-278.
- [15] KALINA, J. and PEŠTOVÁ, B., 2017. Exact Inference in Robust Econometrics under Heteroscedasticity. *Proceedings of 11th International Days of Statistics and Economics MSED 2017* (pp. 636-645), Prague, Czech Republic.
- [16] KALINA, J., VAŠANIČOVÁ, P. and LITAVCOVÁ, E., 2019. Regression Quantiles under Heteroscedasticity and Multicollinearity: Analysis of Travel and Tourism Competitiveness. *Ekonomický časopis*, 67 (1), 69-85.
- [17] KOENKER, R. and BASSETT, G., 1978. 'Regression Quantiles'. Econometrica, 46 (1), 33-50.

- [18] KOENKER, R. and HALLOCK, K. F., 2001. 'Quantile regression'. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 15 (4), 43-56.
- [19] KOENKER, R., 2005. Quantile regression. Cambridge University Press, New York
- [20] KOENKER, R., 2018. Quantile regression in R: a vignette. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/quantreg/vignettes/rq.pdf
- [21] KOŠÍKOVÁ, M., 2018. Index medicínskeho cestovného ruchu. (Medical tourism index). In S. Jenčová and E. Litavcová (Eds.), *Ekonomická aktivita turizmu (Economic Activity of Tourism): Conference* proceedings (pp. 59–67). Prešov: Faculty of Management.
- [22] LYÓCSA, Š., VAŠANIČOVÁ, P. and LITAVCOVÁ, E., 2019. Interconnectedness of international tourism demand in Europe: A cross-quantilogram network approach. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics* and its Applications, 526, 1–13.
- [23] MICHAEL, N., REISINGER, Y. and HAYES, J. P., 2019. The UAE's tourism competitiveness: A business perspective. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 30, 53–64.
- [24] RATE, S., MOUTINHO, L. and BALLANTYNE, R., 2011. The new business environment and trends in tourism. In L. Moutinho and A. Vargaa-Sánchez (Eds), *Strategic management in tourism* (pp. 1–19). Oxfordshire: CABI.
- [25] RAWLINGS, J. O., PANTULA, S. G. and DICKEY, D. A., 1998. Applied Regression Analysis: A Research Tool, Second Edition. New York: Springer-Verlag, Inc.
- [26] SANTA-CRUZ, F. G. and LÓPEZ-GUZMÁN, T., 2017. Culture, tourism and World heritage sites. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 24, 111–116.
- [27] SIMON, N., FRIEDMAN, J., HASTIE, T. and TIBSHIRANI, R., 2011. Regularization Paths for Cox's Proportional Hazards Model via Coordinate Descent. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 39(5), 1-13, http://www.jstatsoft.org/v39/i05/
- [28] ŠTEFKO, R., FEDORKO, I., BAČÍK, R. and FEDORKO, R., 2015. An analysis of perceived topicality of website content influence in terms of reputation management. *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, 12(1), 177–185.
- [29] TIBSHIRANI, R., 1996. Regression Shrinkage and Selection via the Lasso. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological), 58(1), 267-288, http://www.jstor.org
- [30] VAŠANIČOVÁ, P., LITAVCOVÁ, E., and JENČOVÁ, S., 2016. On modelling of the development of share of inbound tourism on GDP in Slovakia. In T. Loster & T. Pavelka (Eds.), *The 10th International Days Of Statistics And Economics: Conference Proceedings* (pp. 1938–1947). Slaný: Melandrium.
- [31] VAŠANIČOVÁ, P., LITAVCOVÁ, E., and JENČOVÁ, S. (2018). Evaluation of health and hygiene subindex of travel and tourism competitiveness index within V4 countries. In 5th International Multidisciplinary Scientific Conference on Social Sciences and Arts SGEM 2018 (pp. 283-290). Sofia: Alexander Malinov.

Address:

doc. Mgr. Eva Litavcová, PhD. Department of Mathematical Methods and Managerial Informatics Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínova 16, 08001 Prešov, Slovakia eva.litavcova@unipo.sk

Mgr. Petra Vašaničová, PhD. Department of Mathematical Methods and Managerial Informatics Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínova 16, 08001 Prešov, Slovakia petra.vasanicova@unipo.sk

Jarmila HORVÁTHOVÁ Martina MOKRIŠOVÁ

CONSTRUCTION OF LOGIT MODEL APPLYING SELECTED FINANCIAL INDICATORS

KONŠTRUKCIA MODELU LOGIT UPLATŇOVANÝCH VYBRANÝCH FINANČNÝCH UKAZOVATEĽOV

Abstract: The prediction of bankruptcy or financial health of companies is nowadays a highly discussed topic. There are many models for bankruptcy prediction. The method of logistic regression seems to be a very suitable approach to the solution of the problem. Using this approach, it is possible to apply selected financial indicators that are the bearers of the financial health of the company, taking into account risks and specificities of the industry in which the company operates. Thanks to that it is possible to construct a model for predicting company's future success or failure. The aim of the paper is to predict bankruptcy of analyzed sample of businesses with the use of selected financial indicators that will serve as inputs in the Logit model. The outputs of this model will enable the construction of a business prediction model. The research was carried out on a sample of heat management companies. The data necessary for processing were provided by CRIF - Slovak Credit Bureau, s.r.o. for the year 2016. The benefit of this research is to identify financial indicators that are important in the area of the prediction of bankruptcy of heat management companies and construct a specific prediction model for the sample.

Keywords: Bankruptcy, Logit, Financial Indicator, Model, Prediction

Kľúčové slová: Bankrot, Logit, finančný ukazovateľ, model, predikcia

JEL classification: M20, G33, C53

This paper was prepared within the grant scheme VEGA no. 1/0887/17 - Increasing the competitiveness of Slovakia within the EU by improving efficiency and performance of production systems and grant scheme VEGA no. 1/0090/19 - Research into the financial situation and financial literacy of low-income population groups in context of socio-economic problems of Eastern Slovakia.

Introduction

The precondition for competitiveness of businesses is their financial health. Therefore it is necessary to pay more attention to evaluating businesses' financial health and predicting their bankruptcy (Štefko, Slusarczyk, Kot, Kolmasiak 2012). The loss of competitiveness as a cause of bankruptcy examined Suhányi and Suhányiová (2017).

Determining the probability of company's bankruptcy is becoming one of the most important tasks of risk management. The risk can be expressed as a quantitative and qualitative threat, while it is characterized by the probability of the occurrence of risk situation which can culminate in the crisis of a system and consequently its bankruptcy (Tej, Bartko and Ali Taha 2013).

Empirical studies to date have found that inefficiencies, high corporate indebtedness, and solvency problems are a prerequisite for bankruptcy (Altman 1968). Achim et al. (2012) (In: Mihalovič 2015) claim that the risk of bankruptcy of a company is closely linked to economic and financial risks. While financial risk depends on the level of indebtedness, economic risk depends on the ratio between fixed and variable costs. In general, knowing these indicators allows us to quantify the risk of a company going bankrupt. Although there is no uniform definition of bankruptcy, it is appropriate to follow the

definition of Dimitras et al. (1996), according to whom bankruptcy is a situation where a company is unable to pay its creditors, shares to shareholders, suppliers, has an overdraft account or a company has gone bankrupt under applicable law. According to Venkataramana, Azash and Ramakrishnaiah (2012) bankruptcy is a situation where the liabilities exceed the assets in the company, generally it happens due to under capitalization, not maintain sufficient cash, sources are not utilize properly, in efficient management in all activities, sales decline and market situation deteriorates Baldwin and Mason (1983) define bankruptcy as a failure of a company to comply with loan agreements and pay dividends. Andrade and Kaplan (1998) identify two forms of financial distress: the first is aimed at debt recovery and the second is an attempt to restructure the debt so as to avoid a baseline situation. The research by Jensen (1989) and later Whitaker (1999) suggests that addressing the financial difficulties of businesses that lead to corporate bankruptcy requires measures to improve the efficiency and performance of businesses. Trahms et al. (2013) contributed most to the research into the causes of bankruptcy (In: Mihalovič 2015). They state that complex indicators of business performance decline must be studied into detail in this regard. Úradníček (2010) (In: Gundová 2015) points out that there have been some long-term anomalies showing symptoms of future problems that are characteristic of the companies at risk in companies before they entered into crisis. He further states that these symptoms are manifested mainly in the performance of the company, and are evident from the values of various financial indicators and models.

Literature review

Nowadays, there are a large number of models, theoretical and practical, designed to assess the financial performance and probability of bankruptcy. Several models are based on mathematical - statistical methods (mostly regression models or discriminatory analysis). Prediction models are the basic tool for analyzing the financial health of a company and predicting its financial distress. However, it is questionable whether these models will provide credible and sufficient information about the financial situation of a company in all industries without taking into account special requirements of these industries. Based on the above, the aim of the article is to select the appropriate financial indicators and then use them in the Logit model. The acquired outputs will enable the construction of a predictive model for companies operating in the field of our choice.

The origins of prediction models date back to 1930, to the studies concerning the application of ratio analysis to predict future bankruptcy. Research into prediction models until the mid-1960s was based on the application of one-factor analysis. Fitzpatrick (1931) was the first to predict bankruptcy by comparing the financial indicators of solvent and insolvent companies in his study. In the following years, research was conducted by Mervin (1942), Chudson (1945), Jackendoff (1962) and Beaver (1966) (In: Delina, Packová 2013). The one-factor study by Beaver (1966) is generally the most widespread and most used. Beaver has shown that financial ratios can be useful in predicting a company's financial distress (Šarlija, Jeger 2011). He confirmed that not all financial indicators can be applied to predict the difficulties of companies. Since the use of simple financial indicators has been questioned in practice, due to their possible bias by management decisions, Beaver suggested using a dichotomous classification test (Kidane 2004). Using this test, multiple financial indicators, with the greatest predictive ability, are identified and used as one predictor with multiple degrees of freedom. The essence of this method is to find such a linear combination of characteristics that best distinguishes two groups of companies, those facing bankruptcy and those not (Spuchl'áková and Frajtová - Michalíková 2016). The one-factor analysis was later replaced by a multi-factor analysis. In 1968, Altman published the first study with multi-factor analysis, which is still very popular today. Since the Altman study (1968), the number and complexity of these models has increased dramatically. In the early period of prediction models, the discriminatory analysis was very popular and used by a vast number of researchers, like Beaver (1966); Altman (1968); Altman et al. (1977); Blum (1974); Deakin (1972); Norton and Smith (1980); Wilcox (1973); Taffler (1983). Altman's original model required that the assumptions of multinormality, homoskedasticity and linearity are met. These assumptions for financial indicators were often not met. If any of the variables is categorical, this method gives distorted results (Cisko and Klieštik 2013). However, the main drawback of this method is that although it is able to identify the companies that are likely to go bankrupt, it is unable to estimate the probability with which this situation occurs. Based on these shortcomings, the next step in the theory of bankruptcy prediction was to develop methods and models that would be able to provide such information (Mihalovič 2015). That is why logistic regression has begun to be preferred even though it does not meet the above prerequisites. Logistic regression, also called the Logit model, is used mainly in models that have a dichotomous output variable (Klieštik, et al. 2015). Compared to methods based on multivariate discrimination analysis, logistic regression has several advantages. Compared to discriminatory analysis, it has a higher predictive ability and its application does not require compliance with assumptions that could limit its usefulness. In the case of discriminatory analysis, it is also required to fulfill the assumption that unnecessarily complicates the preparation of data by initial testing. Other advantages of logistic regression include e.g. there is no need to divide values of independent variables, no need to test the importance of individual variables before the analysis, as well as no need for equality of variancecovariance matrices (Gundová 2015). Martin (1977) was the first to use logistic regression to predict bankruptcy. He used selected financial indicators as inputs of the Logit model. Ohlson (1980) used it first in companies. Ohlson, as a pioneer in the application of logit analysis, due to the requirement for the same variance - covariant matrices (Klieštik et al. 2015) disagreed with the application of discriminatory analysis to predict bankruptcy. However, the Logit models also have its weakness, which includes sensitivity to remote observation. In Logit models, the Odds ratio of the predicted variable is calculated as a linear combination of predictors (Klieštik et al. 2015). The logit model thus provides the option of modelling complex relationships between variables, but at the same time assumes a log-linear relationship between the explained and explanatory variables. Logistic regression is especially useful when predicting binary output from continuous independent variables. It should be noted that discriminatory analysis may be more useful for small data sets, but for larger samples logistic regression is more suitable (Mišanková, et al. 2015).

Methodology

The input database of this empirical study was created from the data of 497 enterprises operating in Slovakia in the area of heat supply. The database is from 2016 and was provided by CRIF - Slovak Credit Bureau, s.r.o (CRIF 2018). The sample of companies analyzed falls under the sectoral classification of economic activities SK NACE Rev. 2 to section D 'Supply of electricity, gas, steam and cold air'. Three quarters of these companies are in terms of their legal form limited liability companies. The results of the financial analysis show that the average value of total liquidity is 3.92. However, the median of this indicator is 0.951, which may indicate some liquidity problems. This is also related to the negative value of net working capital, which is caused by the lack of long-term liabilities. The analyzed sample of companies shows a high turnover time of short-term liabilities, which causes a negative value of money turnover. The average time for assets turnover in these companies is one year on average. The average value of return on assets is 5%. In the capital structure of these companies dominate equity in favor of debt. Cost ratio of the companies is high, which results in their lower performance.

To assess the financial health of companies and to predict bankruptcy, we selected 9 financial indicators, 8 indicators according to Premachandra et al. (2009) and 1 indicator according to Altman (1983). Due to the construction of the Logit model, which was aimed at identifying bankruptcy, it was necessary to invert the inputs and outputs of the model. We used two indicators as the output, the indicator LTL/A - long-term liabilities/ assets, used as an indicator indicating the long-term indebtedness of the company and the indicator STL/A - short-term liabilities/ assets, which assesses problems in financing business operations. Six indicators were applied as inputs: CF/A - cash flow/assets, EAT/A - earnings after tax /assets, WC/A - working capital/assets, CA/A - current assets/assets, EBIT/A - earnings before interest and tax/assets, EBIT/IE - earnings before interest and tax /interest expense. The last indicator that was part of the model is the indicator that was applied in the Altman's model (1983) E/L - equity /liabilities. In selecting the indicators that served as inputs to the Logit model, the procedure of Sperandei (2014) was followed. Gradually, all 9 explanatory (independent) variables were tested by creating models using just one explanatory variable. Based on the results, indicators that were statistically significant (in our case P-value ≤ 0.25) were chosen. Selected indicators are presented in Table 1.

WC/A	working capital/assets
CA/A	current assets/assets
CF/A	cash flow/assets
EBIT/A	earnings before interest and tax/assets
EBIT/	earnings before interest and tax /interest expense
LTL/A	long term liabilities/assets

Tab. 1: Indicators entering the Logit model

Source: authors

Table 2 presents descriptive statistics of the indicators that served as inputs to the Logit model. Enterprises are divided into two groups (Table 2). The first group consists of companies that are expected to enter bankruptcy and the second group consists of companies that do not. Of these values, it is necessary to point out cash flow, which negative value is one of the bankruptcy symptoms. The mean and median of indicators CF/ A, WC/ A, EBIT/ A and EBIT/ IE in companies facing bankruptcy are negative. In the case of the WC/ A indicator, its mean and median are also negative for companies not facing bankruptcy. The sample of enterprises analyzed has a problem with the value of net working capital, which is negative in most enterprises.

Financial indicators	CF/A	WC/AM	CA/A	EBIT/A	EBIT/IE	LTL/A		
Bankrupt businesses								
Mean	-0.015	-0.118	0.241	-0.075	-4.679	0.406		
Median	-0.008	-0.052	0.155	-0.037	-0.335	0.418		
Standard deviation	0.170	0.368	0.248	0.144	13.460	0.409		
Skewness	-3.335	-1.995	1.757	-3.665	-4.108	0.284		
Non-bankrupt businesses								
Mean	0.128	-0.056	0.287	0.080	843.173	0.346		
Median	0.110	-0.022	0.190	0.060	2.306	0.354		
Standard deviation	0.150	0.330	0.260	0.150	11610.880	0.290		
Skewness	8.187	-3.361	1.497	9.114	16.436	0.084		

Tab. 2: Descriptive statistics of selected indicators

Source: own processing in the software Statistica 13.1

To calculate the probability of bankruptcy of the analyzed sample of companies, we chose the logistic regression model (specifically the Logit model). This model belongs to the group of multivariate statistical models. It captures the relationship between the dependent variable Y and the independent variable X. The fundamentals of logistic regression were compiled by Meloun and Militky (2012) (In: Kováčová, Klieštik 2017).

Logistic regression works similarly to linear regression, but unlike linear regression, logistic regression works with a dependent variable in its nominal form (binary logistic regression) Sperandei (2014). The variable y_i can only take two values, $y_i = 1$ if the probability of bankruptcy occurs and $y_i = 0$ if the probability of bankruptcy does not occur. Further, we can assume that the probability $y_i = 1$ is given by P_i and the probability that $y_i = 0$ is given by $I - P_i$.

By logistic transformation we specify the probability P_i with the use of the following model: $P_i = f(\alpha + \beta x_i)$, where x_i are chosen financial indicators, α and β are estimated parameters. P_i is then calculated using the logistic function (1):

$$P_{i} = \frac{\exp(\alpha + \beta xi)}{1 + \exp(\alpha + \beta xi)} = \frac{1}{1 + \exp(-\alpha - \beta xi)}$$
(1)

According to Hebák, et al. (2015) (In: Kováčová, Klieštik 2017) the Logit model (2) can be defined as follows:

$$\log_{it} = \ln(\frac{P_i}{1 - P_i}) = f(\alpha + \beta x_i)$$
⁽²⁾

This formula represents the logarithm of the Odds ratio of both possible alternatives $(P_i, I - P_i)$. The goal of logistic regression is to calculate the Odds ratio $(\frac{P_i}{1-P_i})$ while *ln* in this relationship represents the logit transformation. Using the results of this model, it is possible to determine whether a company is going bankrupt or not. In this classification it is possible to use the "Cut-off Score" (usually at the level of 0.5). Enterprises that have a probability value greater than 0.5 have a higher probability of going bankrupt than those below 0.5. In this context, two kinds of errors appear (Kováčová, Klieštik 2017): type I (alpha) and type II (beta) errors. In addition to calculating these errors, the overall accuracy of the calculations can be calculated to verify the accuracy of the prediction model. Table 3 shows the method of calculating type I and II errors.

Tab. 3: Bankruptcy prediction errors

	Predicted: bankrupt yes	Predicted: bankrupt no			
Observed: bankrupt yes	The correct result (TP)	Error type I (FN)			
Observed: bankrupt no	Error type II (FP)	The correct results (TN)			
Source: Verrels et al 2010 In: Klanéš Hammal 2016					

Source: Vavrek, et. al 2019, In: Klepáč, Hampel 2016

Type I error (3) is a false assumption of company going bankrupt (false negative rate):

$$FNR = \frac{FN}{TP + FN}$$
(3)

Type II error (4) is a false assumption of financial health of a company (false positive rate):

$$FPR = \frac{FP}{TN + FP} \tag{4}$$

Overall classification accuracy (5):

$$ACC = \frac{TP + TN}{TP + FN + FP + TN}$$
(5)

To verify the predictive ability of the Logit model, we also chose the AUC (Area Under Curve) method, which measures the area under the Receiver Operating Curve (ROC). This test is a statistical procedure for evaluating correct and false positives as well as correct and false negatives. Analysis of ROC curves describes the relationship of sensitivity and specificity at different levels of discrimination (Klepáč, Hampel 2016; In: Bakeš, Valášková 2018). The basis for model evaluation is the size of the area under the curve - the larger the area, the higher the model's predictive power (Park, Goo, Jo 2004) or the more ROC curve is convex and nearing the upper left corner, model has better discriminatory ability (Gajowniczek, Zabkowski, Szupiluk 2014).

The Hosmer-Lemeshow's goodness of fit test can also be used to evaluate the strength of the resulting model (Hosmer, Lemeshow 2013). Within this test, the population is divided into ten groups according to estimated probabilities and then it is ascertained whether the estimated and observed success/failure in these groups is "reasonably" divided (i.e. whether the estimated frequencies and observed frequencies deviate). The test requires min. 5 cases to be present in the tested group (none of the groups can be less than 1). The null test hypothesis is: "The estimated and observed rates of success and failure do not differ". The test results are Chi-square statistics and p-value, with low p-value and high Chi-square statistics indicate that the model is not suitable.

To verify the significance of the effect of the explanatory variables on the probability "p", we applied the Wald test. With this test, we tested the null hypothesis for individual factors: the explanatory variable does not affect the probability of bankruptcy. It expresses whether β coefficient is statistically significant and different from zero. The test statistic, which has a normal distribution and is a ratio of the estimated coefficient to its standard error, was used to verify the hypothesis:

$$W = \frac{b'}{s_{b'}} \approx N(0,1) \tag{6}$$

The Wald test is an approximation of the Likelihood Ratio Test (LR test). The LR test is based on the maximum plausibility criterion. The model includes those variables that will maximize its maximum credibility. When testing the hypothesis of the significance of the model as a whole, we test the hypothesis that all estimated model parameters are zero. It is therefore appropriate to use the LR Test or the Langrange Multiplier test (Score test). The LR test is as follows (7):

$$R = -2lnL_0 \left(-2ln L_{max}\right); 0 \le LR \le \alpha, \tag{7}$$

 L_0 is maximum likelihood of the function, if all the parameters of the function are equal to 0, except for the constants, L_{max} represents the maximum of the function L with respect to all parameters of that function.

By analogy to the coefficient of determination R^2 used in linear regression, several coefficients are applied in logistic regression. We can mention Cox and Snell R^2 or R^2 of Nagelkerke. The disadvantage of Cox and Snell R^2 is the fact that it cannot reach the value of 1. Therefore, Nagelkerke (1991) proposed a modification to remove this deficiency. These coefficients indicate how much variance the model explains.

A very significant output of the Logit model is the Classification table, which indicates how many percent of companies were evaluated correctly in terms of dependent variable.

Results and discussion

Based on the chapter "Methodology", we have chosen 6 financial indicators for the final construction of the Logit model. Using the Statistica 13.1 software, the resulting model has been developed (see Table 4).

Paramete	Estimat	Standard	Wald	Lower	Upper	P - value	Odds
r	e (b _i)	error	statistic	CL 95 %	CL 95%		ratio
Constant	0.03934	0.535063	0.00540	-1.00937	1.08804	0.941395	
CF/A	9.63104	3.718342	6.70885	2.34323	16.9188	0.009594	1.52E+0
					6		
WC/A	-	0.869510	3.47304	-3.32463	0.08378	0.062377	1.98E-01
	1.62043						
CA/A	2.10608	0.998457	4.44929	0.14914	4.06302	0.034916	8.22E+0
EBIT/A	26.5981	4.821434	30.4333	17.14830	36.0479	0.000000	3.56E+1
	3		6		7		
EBIT/IE	0.00019	0.000886	0.04758	-0.00154	0.00193	0.827333	1.00E+0
LTL/A	-	0.779916	0.04005	-1.68469	1.37253	0.841384	8.55E-01
	0.15608						

 Tab. 4: Parameters of Logit model

Source: own processing in the software Statistica 13.1

The score achieved in the CF/ A, CA/ A, EBIT/ A predictors is statistically significant at a significance level of 0.05, so we can conclude that it significantly affects the probability of bankruptcy. Based on

Wald confidence intervals, it can be stated, with 95% confidence, that the values of CF/A, CA/A, EBIT/ IE are within the specified limits of the interval and none of the intervals contains the value 0 which would mean removing a variable from the model. This does not apply to the indicators WC/A, EBIT/ NU, LTL/A, which on the basis of the above results can be considered statistically less significant in relation to the probability of bankruptcy and will be subject to further research. This implies that independent variables CF/A, CA/A, EBIT/A are acceptable for the Logit model. Of these variables, the most significant variable is EBIT/A. The Odds ratio for these indicators indicates an increase in the probability of a company going bankrupt if the indicator falls by one unit (in the case of these indicators Odds ratio is higher than 1).

Table 5 shows the results of the Likelihood ratio test, Score test and Wald test.

Test			
	Chi-Square	Df	Р
			value
LR	138.380997	6	0.000000
Score	45.944291	6	0.000000
Wald	54.117381	6	0.000000

Tab. 5: Results of credibility test

Source: own processing in the software Statistica 13.1

Based on the LR test results, variables are added to the model to increase the maximum credibility of the model. This test is therefore suitable not only to assess the suitability of the model, but also to assess the contribution of individual predictors to the model. The higher the value of the test statistics, the better the model describes the data.

In addition to the above tests, we also present the results of the Hosmer-Lemeshow test, which indicates a good fit of the model with the data used. The P - value is 0.859, so it is higher than the significance level $\alpha = 0.05$, therefore we accept the null hypothesis that the distribution of predicted and achieved results is the same across all groups of measurements. This model captures the data on which it was compiled.

Nagelkerke's R Square explains 57.1% of the variation, and it can be stated that this model is successful in explaining the "variability" of the dependent variable. The accuracy of the Logit model prediction is 97% for companies not facing bankruptcy and 59% for companies facing bankruptcy (Table 6).

Tab. 6: Classification of cases

Cases	Predicted: no	Predicted: yes	Percent correct
Observed: no	280	9	97
Observed: yes	22	32	59

Source: own processing in the software Statistica 13.1

To assess the discriminatory ability of the model, we constructed a ROC curve. This curve, shown in Figure 1, captures the relationship between sensitivity and specificity. In our case, the AUC area is 91.31%, which we can evaluate positively and thus, we are able to state that our model has a very good discriminatory ability.



Fig.1: ROC curve Source: own processing in the software Statistica 13.1

In Table 7 below, type I and type II errors are reported as the total model accuracy, sensitivity and specificity.

Tab. 7: Model prediction capabilities

Parameters evaluating	Type I error	Type II error	Sensitivity	Specificity	Overall classification	AUC
predictive ability of Logit model in%					accuracy	
Logit model	40.74	3.11	59.26	96.89	90.96	91.31

Source: own processing in the software Statistica 13.1

Based on the above results, it can be concluded that the model we have prepared for heat management companies has a very good predictive ability and can be applied in the area of bankruptcy prediction. At the same time, we confirmed that selected indicators according to Premachandra et al. (2009) are suitable predictors of the impending bankruptcy of companies. Finally, we constructed the resulting Logit model, which is shown in Figure 2.



Fig.2: Logit model Source: own processing in Excel

Figure 2 shows the cut-off line, with businesses above that line facing a probability of going bankrupt and businesses below this line facing lower (or no) probability of going bankrupt.

Summary

The competitiveness of a company is determined by its financial health and its performance. Therefore, monitoring financial health, performance, as well as detecting bankruptcy symptoms is one of the important tasks of controlling and risk management. In theory as well as in practice, a large number of prediction models are applied, which were elaborated by important theorists and practitioners. However, it has been confirmed that it is not appropriate to apply these models to all businesses and all industries. Therefore, the logistic regression and in particular the Logit model seems to be a suitable choice for the creation of prediction models as they take into account specific requirements in the area of bankruptcy assumptions assessment. Logit model achieved overall classification accuracy 90.96%. Compared to other studies Logit model of Araghi and Makvandi (2012) achieved estimation accuracy 81%, overall correct classification of logit model of Mendelová and Stachová (2016) was 77-95%, in the study of Premachandra et al. (2009) logit model achieved overall correct prediction 67%. With the Logit model, it is possible to formulate a prediction model for any company and any industry. It is possible to select appropriate financial indicators as bankruptcy predictors and then test them to formulate bankruptcy symptoms. For the industry analyzed, the following financial indicators were confirmed to be useful: the share of CF in assets, the share of current assets in assets and the return on assets. The first two indicators are predictors of liquidity and solvency, the third indicator is indicator of profitability. On the basis of the above, it can be stated that short-term and long-term predictors have merged, which we can evaluate positively.

References

- Achim, M. V., et al. 2012. A Statistical Model of Financial Risk Bankruptcy Applied for Romanian Manufacturing Industry. In: *Procedia Economics and Finance*. Vol. 3, pp. 132-137.
 [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-11]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(12)00131-1.
- [2] Altman, E. I. 1968. Financial Ratios, Discriminant Analysis and the Prediction of Corporate Bancruptcy. In: *Journal of Finance*. Vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 589-609. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-11]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1968.tb00843.x.
- [3] Altman, E. I., et al. 1977. 'ZETA Analysis: A New Model to identify Bankruptcy Risk of Corporations'. In: *Journal of Banking and Finance*. Vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 29-54. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-11]. Dostupné z: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0378-4266(77)90017-6.
- [4] Altman, E. I. 1983. Corporate Financial Distress. A Complete Guide to Predicting, Avoiding, and Dealing with Bankruptcy. Wiley Interscience, John Wiley and Sons.

- [5] Andrade, G. a S. Kaplan. 1998. How Costly is Financial (Not Economic) Distress? Evidence from Highly Leveraged Transactions that Became Distressed. In: *Journal of Finance*. Vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 1443-1493. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-11]. Dostupné z: https://econpapers.repec. org/article/blajfinan/v_3a53_3ay_3a1998_3ai3a5_3ap_3a1443-1493.htm.
- [6] Araghi, K. a S. Makvandi, 2012. Evaluating Predictive power of Data Envelopment Analysis Technique Compared with Logit and Probit Models in Predicting Corporate Bankruptcy. In: *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*. Vol. 2, no. 9, pp. 38-46. [Online]. [cit. 2019-01-10]. Dostupné z: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/8f45/3a426e86abf328e 836bfbc9216eff2dac75d.pdf.
- Bakeš, V. a K. Valášková. 2018. Aplikácia a verifikácia slovenských predikčných modelov v podmienkach národnej ekonomiky. In: *Podniková ekonomika a manažment*. ISSN 1336-5878.
 [Online]. [cit.2019-07-11]. Dostupné z: https://fpedas.uniza.sk/~ke/sites/default/files/content_files/ peam_1_2018.pdf.
- [8] Baldwin, C. Y. a S. P. Mason. 1983. The resolution of claims in financial distress the case of Massey Ferguson. In: *Journal of Finance*. Vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 505-516. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-11]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1983.tb02258.x.
- Beaver, W. H. 1966. Financial ratios as predictors of failure. In: *Journal of Accounting Research*. Vol 4, pp. 71–111. DOI: 10.2307/2490171.
- [10] Blum, M. 1974. Failing Company Discriminant Analysis. In: *Journal of Accounting Research*. Vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1-25. DOI: 10.2307/2490525.
- [11] Cisko, S. a T. Klieštik. 2013. Finančný manažment. Žilina: Edis Publishing, University of Žilina, 2013. ISBN 978-80-554-0684-8.
- [12] CRIF. 2018. Financial statements of businesses, Slovak Credit Bureau, s.r.o., Bratislava.
- [13] Deakin, E. B. 1972. A Discriminant Analysis of Predictors of Business Failure. In: Journal of Accounting Research. Vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 167-179. DOI: 10.2307/2490225.
- [14] Delina, R. a M. Packová. 2013. Validácia predikčných bankrotových modelov v podmienkach SR. In: *Ekonomie a Management*. Vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 101-112.
- [15] Dimitras, A. I. et al. 1996. A survey of business failures with an emphasis on prediction and industrial applications. In: *European Journal of Operational Research*. Vol. 90, pp. 487-513.
 [Online]. [cit. 2019-02-25]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.1016/0377-2217(95)00070-4.
- [16] Fitzpatrik, P. J. 1931. A comparison of the ratios of successful industrial enterprises with those of failed companies. *Certified Public Accountant*, 6.
- [17] Gajowniczek, K., T. Zabkowski a R. Szupiluk. 2014. Estimating the ROC curve and its significance for classification model's assessment. In: *Quantitative Methods in Economics*. Vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 382-391.
- [18] Gundová, P. 2015. Verification of the selected prediction methods in Slovak companies. In: Acta academica karviniensia. Vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 26-38. [Online]. [cit. 2019-01-15]. Dostupné z: ftp://193.87.31.84/0200141/Gundova.pdf.
- [19] Hebák, J. et al. 2015. Statisticke mysleni a nastroje analyzy dat. Prague: Informatorium. ISBN 978-8-07-333118-4.
- Hosmer, D. W. a S. Lemeshow. 2013. Applied Logistic Regression. New York: Wiley. ISBN 978-0-470-58247-3. [Online]. [cit. 2019-08-15]. Dostupné z: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/book/10.1002/0471722146.
- [21] Chudson, W. 1945. The pattern of corporate financial structure. New York: National Bureau of Economic Research. ISBN 0-870-14135-X.
- [22] Jackendoff, N. 1962. A Study of Published Industry Financial and Operating Ratios. Philadelphia: Temple University, Bureau of Economic and Business Research.
- [23] Jensen, M. C. 1989. The Eclipse of the Public Corporation. In: *Harvard Business Review*. Vol. 67, no. 5, pp. 61–74.
- [24] Kidane, H. W. 2004. Predicting Financial Distress in IT and Services Companies in South Africa. Master's thesis, Faculty of Economics and Management Sciences, Bloemfontein, South Africa. [Online]. [cit. 2019-08-20]. Dostupné z: http://scholar.ufs.ac.za:8080/xmlui/handle/11660/1117
- [25] Klepáč, H. a D. Hampel. 2016. Prediction of Bankruptcy with SVM Classifiers Among Retail Business Companies in EU. In: *Acta Universitatis*. Vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 627-634.

- [26] Klieštik, T. et al. 2015. Metamorphoses and Semantics of Corporate Failures as a Basal Assumption of a Well founded Prediction of a Corporate Financial Health. Paper presented at 3rd International Conference on Economics and Social Science (ICESS 2015), Changsha, China, December 28–29, vol. 86, pp. 150–154.
- [27] Kováčová, M. a T. Klieštik. 2017. Logit and Probit application for the prediction of bankruptcy in Slovak companies. In: *Equilibrium. Quarterly Journal of Economics and Economic Policy*. Vol. 12, no. 4. pp.775-791. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-11]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.24136/eq.v 12i4.40.
- [28] Martin, D. 1977. Early warning of bank failure. A logit regression approach. In: *Journal of banking and finance*. Vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 249-276. [Online]. [cit. 2019-08-20]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-4266(77)90022-X.
- [29] Meloun, M. a J. Militky. 2012. Interaktivni statisticka analyza dat. Prague_Karolinium.
- [30] Mendelová, V. a M. Stachová, 2016. Comparing DEA and logistic regression in corporate financial distress prediction. In: *International Scientific Conference FERNSTAT 2016* (pp. 95-104). Banská Bystrica Slovakia.
- [31] Merwin, C. 1942. Financing small corporations in five manufacturing industries, 1926-1936 New York: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [32] Mihalovič, M. 2015. Príčiny úpadku podnikov. In: *Podniková revue*. [Online]. [cit. 2019-08-01]. Dostupné z: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286935123_Priciny_upadku_podnikov.
- [33] Mišanková, M. et al. 2015. Determination of Default Probability by Loss Given Default. In: *Procedia Economics and Finance*. Elsevier Publisher. Vol. 26, pp. 411-417. DOI: 10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00815-1.
- [34] Nagelkerke, N. J. D. 1991. A Note on a General Definition of the Coefficient of Determination. In: *Biometrika*. Vol. 78. no. 3, pp. 691-692. [Online]. [cit. 2019-08-15]. Dostupné z: http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=00063444%28199109%2978%3A3%3C691%3AANOAGD%3E2 .0.CO%3B2-V.
- [35] Norton, C.L. a R.E. Smith. 1980. A comparison of general price level and historical cost financial statement in the prediction of bankruptcy: A replay. In: *The accounting review*. Vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 516-521. [Online]. [cit. 2019-08-19]. Dostupné z: https://www.jstor.org/stable/246414.
- [36] Ohlson, J. A., 1980. Financial ratios and the probabilistic prediction of bankruptcy. In: *Journal of Accounting Research*. Vol. 18, pp. 109-131. DOI: 10.2307/2490395.
- [37] Park, H. S., J. M. Goo a Ch. H. Joo. 2004. Reciever operating characteristics (ROC) curve. In: *Korean journal of radiology*. Vol. 5, no. 1. pp. 11-18. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-20]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.3348/kjr.2004.5.1.11.
- [38] Premachandra, I. M. et al. 2009. DEA as a tool for bankruptcy assessment: A comparative study with logistic regression technique. In: *European Journal of Operational Research*. Vol. 193, pp. 412-424. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejor.2007.11.036.
- [39] Sperandei, S. 2014. Understanding logistic regression analysis. In: *Biochemia Medica*. Vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 12-18. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-20]. Dostupné z: http://dx.doi.org/10.11613/BM.2014.003.
- [40] Spuchl'áková, E. a K. Frajtová Michalíková. 2016. Comparison of LOGIT, PROBIT and neural network bankruptcy prediction models. In: *ISSGBM international conference on information and business management* (pp. 49-53). ISBN 978-981-09-9757-1.
- [41] Šarlija, N. a M. Jeger. 2011. Comparing financial distress prediction models before and during recession. In: *Croatian Operational Research Review*. Vol. 2, pp. 133–142.
- [42] Suhányi, L. a A, Suhányiová. 2017. Competitiveness of Slovak spa facilities. In: *Modern science:* 4th international multidisciplinary scientific conference on social sciences and arts SGEM 2017, Vol. 4, book 1 (pp. 153-160). Sofia: STEF92 Technology. ISBN 978-619-7408-16-4.
- [43] Štefko, R., B. Slusarczyk, S. Kot, a C. Kolmasiak. 2012. Transformation on steel products distribution in Poland and Slovakia. In: *Metalurgija*. Vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 133-136. ISSN 0543-5846. UDC – UDK 691.672:338.972:339.8:438:437.6=111.
- [44] Taffler, R. J. 1983. The Assessment of Company Solvency and Performance Using a Statistical Model. In: Accounting and business research. Vol. 13, no. 52, pp, 295-308. [Online]. [cit. 2019-08-11]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.1983.9729767.

- [45] Tej, J., F. Bartko, a V. Ali Taha. 2013. Manažment rizík a zmien, 1st ed. Prešov: Bookman, ISBN 978-80-89568-73-4.
- [46] Trahms, C. A., et al. 2013. Organizational decline and turnaround A review and agenda for future research. In: *Journal of Management*, Vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 1277–1307. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-20]. Dostupné z: http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0149206312471390.
- [47] Úradníček, V. 2010. Alternatívne metódy hodnotenia výkonnosti podniku. Habilitačná práca.
 [CD]. [cit. 2019-08-01]. Banská Bystrica: Ekonomická fakulta Univerzita Mateja Bela.
- [48] Vavrek, R., P. Gundová, a M. Marchevská, 2019. Statistical verification of selected bankruptcy models – Case study. In: *Journal of applied economic sciences*. Vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 9-20. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-25]. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.14505/jaes.v14.1(63).01.
- [49] VenkataRamana, N., Md. Azash, a K. Ramakrishnaiah. 2012. Financial Performance and Predicting The Risk of Bankruptcy: A Case of Selected Cement Companies in India. In: *International Journal of Public Administration and Management Research*. Vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 40–56. DOI: RCMSS/IJPAMR/12004.
- [50] Whitaker, R. B. 1999. The early stages of financial distress. In: Journal of Economics and Finance. Vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 123 -132. [Online]. [cit. 2019-07-20]. Dostupné z: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF02745946.
- [51] Wilcox, A.R. 1973. Indices of qualitative variation and political measurement. In: Western Political Quarterly, Vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 325-343. [Online]. [cit. 2019-08-11]. Dostupné z https://doi.org/10.1177/10 6591297302600209.

Address:

Ing. Jarmila Horváthová, CSc.

Department of Accounting and Controlling Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia jarmila.horvathova@unipo.sk

Ing. Martina Mokrišová, PhD.

Department of Accounting and Controlling Faculty of Management University of Prešov in Prešov Konštantínova 16, 080 01 Prešov, Slovakia martina.mokrisova@unipo.sk

Instructions to authors

Articles submitted to the scientific journal Journal of Management and Business: Research and Practice are accepted only in English.

The author is responsible for the originality, scientific accuracy, and formal appropriateness of the article.

The journal does not accept articles which have already been published somewhere else. Author(s) declare the originality of the paper by submitting written statement on the originality of the article. The template statement on originality could be requested at the email address jmb@unipo.sk.The editorial board reserves the right to refuse the publication of the article. Accepted articles are peer reviewed and they might be accepted or refused by the editorial board taking into consideration results of peer review process. Articles must be submitted electronically using a MS Word format to the email address: https://www.udot.com address: https://www.udot.com address in the email address

Article structure

The author's name should be given without academic titles. Font Times New Roman, size 14 points, bold, aligned to the left.

Title of article in English. Times New Roman, 16 points, bold, aligned to the left.

Title of article in Slovak or Czech. Formal requirements are the same as above.

Abstract (summary) in English. Font Times New Roman, size 12 points, italics, the text should be justified and in a range from 100 to 250 words.

Keywords in English. 3-5 keywords. Font Times New Roman, 12 points, italics, the text should be justified.

Keywords in Slovak or Czech. 3-5 keywords. Times New Roman, 12 points, alignment to the left. **JEL classification**. The classification of articles into a subject category according to JEL classification. Font Times New Roman, size 12 points, aligned to the

left.(http://www.aeaweb.org/journal/jel_class_system.php)

The text of the article The recommended structure of the text of the article is as follows:

Introduction, Material and Methods, Results and Discussion, Summary. The summary is always also in the Slovak or Czech. The text is written in Times New Roman, 12 points, justified. Single line spacing, pages are not numbered.

References

Author's address

After each part of the given structure insert a blank line in the font size of the respective part. **Tables and graphs** must be numbered and must also be distinguishable in a smaller format. Reference and the title of the table - 'caption' (Tab. 1: Caption) or graph (Fig. 1: Caption) are written in Times New Roman, 10 points, bold, aligned to the left. The contents of the table are formatted in Times New Roman, 10 points. The source of the table and graph must be provided below the table or graph (Source :), written in Times New Roman, size 10, aligned to the left.

Formulas are labelled by numbers in parentheses. Font style is Times New Roman, size 10 points. Formulas are aligned to the left margin; labels are aligned to the right.

Length of the article should not exceed 15 standard pages including annexes. References are given in accordance with applicable standards STN ISO 690: 2012.

References are indicated by a number in square parentheses [] at the corresponding place in the text. Bibliographical details of references indicated by the number are given at the end of the article in the list of references – see the following examples:

[1] ROTHBARD, M., N., 2008. Mystery of Banking. Aubur, Alabama: Ludwig von Mises Institute. ISBN 978-1-933550-28-2.

[2] HORVÁT, J. et al., 1999. Anatómia a biológia človeka. 2. vyd. Bratislava: Obzor. ISBN 80-07-00031-5.

[3] STEINEROVÁ, J., 2000. Princípy formovania vzdelania v informačnej vede. In: Pedagogická revue. Roč. 2, č. 3, s. 8-16. ISSN 1335-1982.

The square brackets include the serial number of the work and page(s) of the paraphrased work.

The author's address is provided below the list of references. It must include full name, including academic degrees, name of university, faculty and department (institute), post address and e-mail address of the author. Reviews of articles are arranged by the editorial board. Peer review process is anonymous. The reviewer is not an employee of the same higher education institution as the author.